
 

 
 

Agendas, Reports and Minutes will be provided upon request in the following formats: 
 
Large Clear Print: Braille: Audio: Native Language 

 

 West Lindsey District Council  

 
Guildhall Gainsborough 
Lincolnshire DN21 2NA 

Tel: 01427 676676 Fax: 01427 675170 
 

AGENDA       

 
This meeting will be webcast live and the video archive published on our 

website 
 
 

Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 6th November, 2024 at 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber - The Guildhall, Marshall's Yard, Gainsborough, DN21 2NA 
 
 
Members: Councillor Matthew Boles (Chairman) 

Councillor Jim Snee (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Emma Bailey 
Councillor John Barrett 
Councillor Owen Bierley 
Councillor Karen Carless 
Councillor David Dobbie 
Councillor Ian Fleetwood 
Councillor Sabastian Hague 
Councillor Peter Morris 
Councillor Roger Patterson 
Councillor Tom Smith 

 
 

1.  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2.  Public Participation Period 
Up to 15 minutes are allowed for public participation.  Participants 
are restricted to 3 minutes each. 
 

 

3.  To Approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
Meeting of the Planning Committee held on 9 October 2024, 
previously circulated. 

 

(PAGES 3 - 21) 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
Members may make any declarations of interest at this point 
but may also make them at any time during the course of the 
meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack



 

5.  Update on Government/Local Changes in Planning Policy 
 
Note – the status of Neighbourhood Plans in the District may be 
found via this link 
https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-
building/neighbourhood-planning/ 
 

 

6.  Planning Applications for Determination   

i)  147131 - Land south of Barfield Lane, Reepham 
 

(PAGES 22 - 64) 

7.  Determination of Appeals 
There are no Determination of Appeals to note. 

 

 
 

Ian Knowles 
Head of Paid Service 

The Guildhall 
Gainsborough 

 
Tuesday, 29 October 2024 

 
 
 

https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building/neighbourhood-planning/
https://www.west-lindsey.gov.uk/my-services/planning-and-building/neighbourhood-planning/


Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

1 
 

WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of the Meeting of the Planning Committee held in the Council Chamber - The 
Guildhall, Marshall's Yard, Gainsborough, DN21 2NA on  9 October 2024 commencing at 
6.30 pm. 
 
 
Present: Councillor Matthew Boles (Chairman) 

 Councillor Jim Snee (Vice-Chairman) 

  

 Councillor Emma Bailey 

 Councillor John Barrett 

 Councillor Owen Bierley 

 Councillor Karen Carless 

 Councillor David Dobbie 

 Councillor Ian Fleetwood 

 Councillor Peter Morris 

 Councillor Roger Patterson 

 
 
In Attendance:  
Russell Clarkson Development Management Team Manager 
George Backovic Development Management Team Leader 
Martha Rees Legal Advisor 
Ele Snow Senior Democratic and Civic Officer 
Natalie Smalley Democratic and Civic Officer 
 
Also in Attendance: 8 Members of the public 
  
Apologies: Councillor Sabastian Hague 

Councillor Tom Smith 
 
 
 
150 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PERIOD 

 
There was no public participation.  
 
 
151 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
Wednesday, 11 September 2024, be confirmed and signed as an accurate record. 

 
 
152 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

2 
 

 
153 UPDATE ON GOVERNMENT/LOCAL CHANGES IN PLANNING POLICY 

 
The Committee heard from the Development Management Team Manager regarding 
updates to local and national planning policy. He explained that the Government’s 
consultation for reform to the National Plan and Policy framework (NPPF) closed on 24 
September, and that representations had been submitted on behalf of the Council; the 
Officer thanked Members who had participated in the workshop which led up to this.  
 
He then outlined how the Lords Minister for Housing and Local Government, Baroness 
Taylor of Stevenage, had explained that the government had received “thousands and 
thousands” of consultation responses, and that according to the Minister, the revised NPPF 
would potentially be issued towards the end of the year, or possibly the following year, due 
to the volume of responses. 
 
In terms of Neighbourhood Plans, it was explained that the Nettleham Review had 
successfully passed its referendum, meaning that the planning decision carried full weight, 
and would be presented to Full Council on 4 November 2024, with a recommendation that 
the Neighbourhood Plan Review be made.  
 
It was then explained that the Reepham Neighbourhood Plan was now at examination stage, 
and a hearing had been held on 25 September to discuss the Neighbourhood Plan’s housing 
allocations; the Examiner’s report was expected shortly.  
 
With regards to the Fiskerton and Sudbrooke Neighbourhood Plans, the Officer detailed how 
their respective first drafts had been submitted to consultation; he then affirmed that the 
Fiskerton consultation would run until 28 October 2024, and that the Sudbrooke consultation 
would run until 17 November 2024. 
 
A Member of the Committee took the opportunity to stress the importance of the consultation 
on the Central Lincolnshire Design code to colleagues and members of the public. In 
response to a question from the Member, it was confirmed by the Officer that the first 
consultation closes on 22 October 2024. 
 
 
154 147672 - SAXILBY 

 
The Committee then gave consideration to the first application on the agenda, number 
147672, seeking planning approval for up to 100 dwellings on land at Sykes Lane, Saxilby. 
The Officer presented the Committee with an update to the recommendation for the 
application in question; he clarified that the amended recommendation would contain the 
addition of ‘public open space’ as part of the Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
The Officer presented an overview of the application, explaining that the although the 
entirety of the site was allocated for the development of 134 dwellings, as indicated in the 
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (CLLP); the density of the development was less, with the 
proposal of 100 dwellings. It was outlined that the reasoning given was a Landscape Visual 
Statement had been submitted with what the developer thought would be acceptable on the 
site itself. 
 

Page 4



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

3 
 

The Chairman stated that there were two registered speakers, and invited the first, Cllr 
Hillman, as Parish Councillor, to address the Committee.  
 
Cllr Hillman explained that on 30 January 2024, Saxilby with Ingelby Parish Council 
facilitated a meeting with residents in relation to the application, with over 50 concerned 
villagers in attendance. She outlined that a longstanding concern over Saxilby’s 
infrastructure and growth was repeatedly raised; with similar concerns being raised earlier in 
2017 regarding earlier developments in the area. She continued to explain that the north of 
the village was overdeveloped, with 363 dwellings built in the last seven years. With the 
addition of the proposed development, the Councillor explained that there had been little 
consideration to the capacity of the area’s infrastructure, alongside concerns regarding 
traffic; sewerage; flooding; lack of school places; and availability of doctor’s appointments. 
She continued to explain the Parish Council’s concerns in relation to the future capacity of 
the A57 Mill Lane junction had been acknowledged in the Officer’s report, however, due to 
the junction’s frequent use by residents as well as commuters, traffic queues would build up 
in the surrounding area. It was explained that a sum of £125,424, which had been proposed 
for purchasing bus passes for residents to reduce car usage, was unrealistic and 
unacceptable, due to the lack of bus service available, and the residents’ preference for car 
usage. 
 
Cllr Hillman explained that following a meeting with the Developer in April 2024, the Parish 
Council had requested from the Council that £350,000 of S106 funding to be allocated to 
accessible facilities in the community, namely, a dog exercise area, allotments, and 
improving existing play facilities; furthermore, she indicated that Saxilby with Ingelby Parish 
Council would apply for Neighbourhood Funding from West Lindsey District Council towards 
a children’s play area on Westcroft Green. The Councillor explained that after discussion 
with the Developer, Local Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) funding would be available for play 
equipment off site. The Councillor reaffirmed that the Parish Council believed the proposed 
development would be more acceptable if S106 funding was allocated to building a play 
area, and a dog exercise area, on Westcroft Green. 
 
The Chair thanked Cllr Hillman for her comments, and invited the second registered 
speaker, Robert Doughty, Agent for Applicant, to address the Committee.  
 
Mr Doughty outlined that the application site was located on a field that had been less 
productive due to its size and topography. The Agent confirmed how the land was allocated 
for residential development as part of the CLLP in 2023; he outlined a range of 
considerations as part of the process involved in development, which informed the indicative 
layout featured in the application. He explained that the plan proposed a lower number of 
dwellings than indicated by the CLLP, due to the retention of certain features of the site. Mr 
Doughty had brought attention to how the scheme was supported by the usual reports and 
studies, notably including detail pertaining to transport, drainage, and ecology; furthermore, 
he highlighted the conclusion from the local flood authority, noting the positive impact the 
scheme would have on surface water drainage. The Agent then reaffirmed Cllr Hillman’s 
comments, explaining how the LEAP could be provided for Westcroft Green, subject to the 
Council’s consideration. Finally, he requested support for the Officer recommendation to be 
approved. 
 
The Chair thanked Mr Doughty and asked for any Officer response. In relation to Cllr 
Hillman’s earlier comments, the Officer referred to an email received from the Parish Council 

Page 5



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

4 
 

which referred to community benefit. This could not be delivered as the purpose of Section 
106 contributions was primarily to mitigate the impact of unacceptable development. Having 
considered this, the Council felt the Parish Council’s plans would not meet the S106 
requirements. The Officer also reminded the Committee that the play area details must be 
agreed as part of the legal agreement, in order for the S106 to be signed.  
 
A Member of the Committee noted that the report appeared to lack comments from the local 
Members; this was later addressed by the Officer, who explained that Members had been 
given to the opportunity to comment but chose not to.  
 
A Member raised traffic congestion concerns regarding the roads into Saxilby, highlighting 
his surprise that the Highways Agency had deemed the proposal appropriate, considering 
the volume of commuter traffic; this was reiterated by other Members, with suggestions that 
money could be spent to help alleviate the congestion. The Member proposed a site visit 
during morning rush hour for the Committee to observe the levels of traffic congestion in the 
area. In response, to these comments, the Officer confirmed that the Highways Agency had 
deemed the traffic levels appropriate at the Mill Lane junction, with the Development 
Management Team Manager later adding that traffic levels would be taken up to maximum 
capacity with this development. After reaffirming the traffic congestion concerns, a Member 
of the Committee outlined his support for the development site plan and moved the 
recommendation outlined in the report. 
 
Another Member of the Committee enquired about the 20% of affordable housing included 
as part of the development, with concerns that the proposed dwellings would 
disproportionately benefit middle class commuter families. The Member also raised a 
question how the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) would be allocated, and how much 
the Parish Council would receive. The Development Management Team Manager 
responded by explaining that the 20% allocation for affordable housing was in line with the 
current NPPF, and that the Parish Council will receive CIL monies, due to existence of their 
Neighbourhood Plan, in addition to the developer’s proposal. 
 
Echoing one of Cllr Hillman’s earlier comments, concerns were raised by a Member that the 
Developer’s plans to provide approximately £125,000 towards Saxilby’s residents’ bus 
passes was wasteful and could be better allocated elsewhere. It was clarified that the money 
would not meet the tests for reasonableness, therefore the sum had not been requested by 
the Council. It was added that in addition to the £2,300 of S106 funding for speed limit 
operations and signage works in the area, the Council had requested a frontage footway to 
connect to the existing footway on Sykes Lane, details of which would be outlined in the 
S106 agreement.  
 
The Chairman summarised that there had been two proposals, one for a site visit and one 
for the Officer recommendation, seeking a seconder for either proposal. A Member of the 
Committee duly seconded the motion to approve the Officer recommendation. The Legal 
Advisor sought confirmation that the amendment to the recommendation had been noted 
and both the proposing and seconding Members were content with the amended 
recommendation. With this confirmed, the Chairman took the vote and it was 
 

RESOLVED that approval to GRANT planning permission be delegated back to 
Officers subject to the completion of a Section 106 agreement which provided: 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

5 
 

Education 
A contribution of up to £594,405 to be paid on completion of 50% of the development 
to increase primary school capacity. 
 
NHS 
A contribution of up to £63,250 on completion of 50% of the dwellings in order to have 
contributed to the extension of existing medical facilities at the Glebe Practice and 
Trent Valley Surgery. 
 
Affordable Housing 
20% of the dwellings to be delivered as affordable housing. 
The tenure split to be: 
25% First Homes; 
15% Shared Ownership and 60% Affordable Rent. 
 
Highway Safety 
£2300 for speed limit alterations and signage works on Sykes Lane and Church Lane 
Frontage. 
Footway connected to existing footway on Sykes Lane (with details subject to 
agreement). 
 
Custom / Self Build Housing 
For 5 custom / self-build plots 
 
Public Open Space 

 
and imposition of the following conditions: 
 
1. Apart from the five self-build plots an application for approval of the reserved matters for 
the remaining 95 dwellings must be made to the Local Planning Authority before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. No commencement of the five self-
build plots must occur until the reserved matters for the self-build plots are approved. 
 
Reason: To conform with Section 92 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 
2. No development must take place until, plans and particulars of the means of access to the 
highway, appearance, layout and scale of the building(s) to be erected and the landscaping 
of the site (hereinafter called “the reserved matters”) have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the development must be carried out in 
accordance with those details. 
Reason: The application is in outline only and the Local Planning Authority wishes to ensure 
that these details which have not yet been submitted are appropriate for the locality. 
 
3.The development hereby permitted must be begun before the expiration of two years from 
the date of final approval of the reserved matters or, in the case of approval on different 
dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be approved. 
 
Reason: To conform with Section 92 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 

Page 7



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

6 
 

 
4. The reserved matters planning application submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
considering access, landscaping, layout, scale and appearance must demonstrate that it 
reflects the proposed site plan drawing no. 1032-3-OO-SP01 and the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment prepared by Ecological Services Ltd dated October 2023. 
 
Reason: This formed part of the consideration to allow a lower density and grant approval. 
 
5.The reserved matters planning application submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
considering layout, scale and appearance must be accompanied by an Energy Statement to 
accord with the requirements of local policy S6 and S7 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 
2023. The development must thereafter proceed only in accordance with the agreed Energy 
Statement, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure efficient buildings and reduce energy consumption, to accord 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and policies S6 and S7 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2023.  
 
6. No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan and Method 
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The Plan and Statement shall include: 
 

 the phasing of the development to include access construction 

 the routes of construction traffic to and from the site 

 the on-site parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

 the on-site loading and unloading of all plant and materials. 

 the on-site storage of all plant and materials 

 Measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt during construction 

 Wheel Wash Facilities 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to restrict disruption to the living conditions of 
neighbouring dwellings and the surrounding area from noise, dust and vibration in 
accordance with policies S47 and S53 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
7. No development must take place a Travel Plan has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Those parts of the approved Travel Plan that are 
identified therein as being capable of implementation after occupation must be implemented 
in accordance with the timetable contained therein and must continue to be implemented for 
as long as any part of the development is occupied. 
 
Reason: In order that the permitted development conforms to the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, by ensuring that access to the site is sustainable and 
that there is a reduced dependency on the private car for journeys to and from the 
development to accord with the National Planning Policy Framework, and policy S47 of the 
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 2023 
 
8. No development shall commence until a surface water and foul water drainage scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
The scheme shall: 

Page 8



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

7 
 

 be based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological 
and hydrogeological context of the development. 

 provide flood exceedance routing for storm event greater than 1 in 100 year. 

 provide details of how run-off will be safely conveyed and attenuated during storms 
upto and including the 1 in 100 year critical storm event, with an allowance for climate 
change, from all hard surfaced areas within the development into the existing local 
drainage infrastructure and watercourse system without exceeding the run-off rate for 
the undeveloped site. 

 provide attenuation details and discharge rates which shall be restricted to an agreed 
greenfield run off rate. 

 provide details of the timetable for and any phasing of implementation for the 
drainage scheme; and  

 provide details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed over the lifetime 
of the development, including any arrangements for adoption by any public body or 
Statutory Undertaker and any other arrangements required to secure the 

 operation of the drainage system throughout its lifetime. 
 

No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved scheme has been completed or provided 
on the site in accordance with the approved phasing. The approved scheme shall be 
retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating or 
increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream in 
accordance with policy S21 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
9. No development shall take place until a written Habitat Management and Maintenance 
Plan [HMMP] in accordance with the Biodiversity Net Gain Statement dated January 2024 
and prepared by Luke Hartley has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The HMMP shall relate to all ‘significant’ biodiversity gains on site and 
must be strictly adhered to and implemented in full for a minimum of 30 years following 
completion of the development. The HMMP must contain the following: 
 
a. a non-technical summary. 
b. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering/monitoring the 
[HMMP]. 
c. the details of funding, resources and mechanisms for long term delivery of the [HMMP]. 
d. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve habitat.  

i. Explanation as to how climate change models (RCP 8.5) have impacted 
management, species selection and/or provenance of woody species.  
ii. Explanation as to how soil sampling has impacted creation/enhancement of 
grassland habitats or any habitat creation on previous arable/contaminated land.  
iii. Explanation of how Hydrological surveys have impacted the creation and species 
selection of SUD features  
iv. Explanation habitat creation/enhancement has included micro-topologies to 
maximise ecological niches. 
v. Explanation as to the selection of donor site for green hay and/or choice of seed 
mixes  
vi. Explanation/specification as to any protected/notable species, mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement methods (such as the inclusion of beetle banks, 
wildlife towers, Hibernacula) within public open space. 

Page 9



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

8 
 

e. the management measures to maintain habitat for a period of 30 years from the 
completion of development.  

i. Explanations as to how minimum intervention management techniques have been 
prioritised.  
ii. Explanation as to frequency and method of grass cutting (where grazing is not 
used) ensuring nutrient level and ecological niches are managed appropriately.  
iii. Explanation as to how management allows for creation/maintenance of quality 
overwintering habitat.  
iv. Explanation as to how mosaic features within each habitat type will be supported 
whilst ensuring habitat definitions are maintained for the 30-year period.  
v. Explanation of methods employed to reduce/mitigate local scale anthropogenic 
risks (for example tree guards or restricting access) 

f) the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the retained, created and/or 
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority for years 1, 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 
25 and 30 following the completion of the development. 
g) Reports to the Local Planning Authority should use the Natural England HMMP 
Monitoring report template (Word) supplemented with either an updated Statutory Metric 
showing gains to date or Natural England HMMP Monitoring report template (Excel). 
Geostamped Photo evidence must also be provided. 
All reports must be submitted no later than September 1st on each reporting year 
h) the mechanisms of adaptive management and remedial measures to account for changes 
in the work schedule to achieve required targets. 
(Applicants are advised to use the Natural England HMMP Template found at 
https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5813530037846016) 
 
Reason: To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in accordance 
with policy S61 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
10. No development shall take place on the site until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact Assessment dated October 
2023 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting biodiversity and the existing landscape character of 
the site in accordance with policies S53 and S60 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
11. Development on the site shall be in full accordance with the Flood Risk Assessment, in 
particular the finished floor level of the dwellings is not less than 8.15m AOD. 
 
Reason: To reduce flood risk in accordance with policy S21 of the Central Lincolnshire Local 
Plan. 
 
12. Prior to completion of development details of 3 passing places on Church Lane must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority . Evidence of 
completion of the approved works must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
Planning Authority prior to occupation of any dwellings on the site. 
 
Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety in accordance with policy S47 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 
 
13.Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated 

Page 10

https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5813530037846016


Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

9 
 

footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed within the 
limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished surface levels in 
accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards 
within the public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may otherwise 
remain for an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels in accordance with 
policies S47 and S53 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
14. Before any dwelling is occupied it must have a rain harvesting water butt of a minimum 
100 litre capacity within its garden area. 
 
Reason: In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with policy S12 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
 
155 147755 - LAND OFF HIGH STREET, GLENTHAM 

 
The Committee heard from the Development Management Team Leader regarding planning 
application number 14775, seeking to erect five dwellings with detached garages, 
associated access, car parking, infrastructure and landscaping, on the land off High Street, 
Glentham. The Members then heard a short presentation introducing the application.  
 
The Chairman stated there was one registered speaker, and invited Mr Andrew McDowall, 
Agent for the Applicant, to address the Committee. 
 
Mr McDowall highlighted how the key issues under consideration were whether the site fell 
within the developed footprint of Glentham, and the impact the development would have on 
the immediate neighbouring properties, and the wider character of the village. He continued 
that the proposed development would enhance the built frontage of the village, reinforcing 
the linear character of the A631. In terms of the wider impact, it was explained that the 
design would be in keeping with the local residential architecture; he added that the choice 
of building material would be matched to Glentham’s historic dwellings, and the layout and 
scale of the development would be inspired by cul-de-sacs located in the village.  
 
The Agent for the Applicant addressed concerns raised by neighbouring properties, stating 
that the proposed development had been carefully designed to avoid overlooking generally. 
He continued that another concern had been raised regarding a legal easement to the rear 
of the garden, noting that the Applicant had no record of this easement, with sufficient space 
left if required in the future. He then noted that the Parish Council had voiced concerns in 
relation to highway safety, adding that these concerns had been adequately addressed in 
the planning application, with the Highways Agency raising no objection.  
 
Mr McDowall then focused on ecology and biodiversity; he outlined that although the 
application had exemption due to being submitted prior to the imposition of mandatory 
requirements, net gains would be delivered overall, with no objection raised by the Council.  
 
He concluded by confirming to the Committee that the proposed development had 
undergone extensive pre-application and ongoing consultation which attempted to address 

Page 11



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

10 
 

any concerns. Mr McDowall thanked the Committee for their time, and highlighted the high-
quality nature of the design, its sustainability, alongside the support received from the 
Council’s planning department.  
 
The Chairman thanked Mr McDowall for his comments, and after having received no Officer 
response, he invited comments from the Committee. 
 
A Member of the Committee commended the Developer, noting their willingness to work with 
the Council to enhance the proposal, describing the proposed development as potentially 
first-class. He explained how the development would improve the built footprint of Glentham, 
commenting on how the proposed use of similarly matched sustainable building materials 
would be suitable for the location. The Member continued that a potential benefit of the 
proposed development was the increased usage of Glentham’s local amenities, noting that 
these amenities required more than passing trade to sustain them. It was then proposed to 
move the recommendation in the report. 
 
Another Member of the Committee expressed his surprise with a lack of objection from the 
Highways Agency; he commented that as several junctions into Glentham had limited 
visibility, particularly near the Old Chapel House, the speed of traffic was hazardous, 
especially at busy times. With similar concerns about the speed of traffic, another Member 
enquired about the possibility of extending the 30mph zone closer to the proposed 
development, to which the Chairman clarified that it would require the support of the County 
Councillor. 
 
Concerns were expressed by a Member of the Committee in relation to the proposed 
development adding to the high level of development along the main road, and the future 
development of the neighbouring vacant garden centre. The Officer updated the Committee, 
explaining that some of the existing buildings on the vacant garden centre site had been 
approved for alteration into small dwellings, alongside an implemented permission for 19 
dwellings north of the site. 
 
Having been proposed and seconded, it was agreed that permission be GRANTED subject 
to the following conditions: 
 
Conditions stating the time by which the development must be commenced: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To conform with Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 
Conditions which apply or require matters to be agreed before the development 
commenced: 
 
None 
 
Conditions which apply or are to be observed during the course of the development: 
 
2. With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of this consent, the 

Page 12



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

11 
 

development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following drawings 
dated Dec 2023: 
 

 PP002 Rev 02 

 PP006 Rev 01 

 PP100 Rev 01 

 PP101 

 PP102 Rev 01 

 PP103 

 PP104 

 PP105 Rev 01 

 PP106 Rev 01 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the details shown on the approved plans 
and in any other approved documents forming part of the application. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the approved plans and 
to accord with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S53 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
3. No development shall take place above damp proof course level until details of all 
external and roofing materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall only be constructed in accordance with the 
approved materials and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure the use of appropriate materials to safeguard the character and 
appearance of the street scene in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Policy S53 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in full accordance with the details 
set out in the submitted Energy Statement dated December 2023, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development takes place in accordance with the approved 
details and in accordance with the provisions of Policies S6 and S7 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
5. Prior to occupation of the dwellings, a written verification statement shall be submitted to 
demonstrate that the approved scheme has been implemented in full, in accordance with the 
submitted Energy Statement dated December 2023, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development takes place in accordance with the approved 
details and in accordance with the provisions of Policies S6 and S7 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
6. The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the recommendations 
contained within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Archer Ecology dated July 2023 at 
Land north of A631, Glentham, Market Rasen. 
 

Page 13



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

12 
 

Reason: To protect and enhance the biodiversity value of the site to accord with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and policy S60 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
7. The development shall be carried out in full accordance (excluding para 3.43 
compensation) with the Biodiversity Assessment by Archer Ecology dated December 2023 
at Land north of A631, Glentham, Market Rasen. 
 
Reason: To protect and enhance the biodiversity value of the site to accord with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and policy S60 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
8.No development above damp proof course level shall take place until details of a scheme 
for the disposal of foul sewage and surface water from the site (including the results of any 
necessary soakaway/percolation tests and connectivity plan) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No occupation must occur until the 
approved scheme has been installed and retained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate drainage facilities are provided to serve the dwelling, to 
reduce the risk of flooding and to prevent the pollution of the water environment to accord 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S21 of the Central Lincolnshire 
Local Plan. 
 
9.Prior to occupation of the approved dwelling, evidence must be submitted to the local 
planning authority that a rainwater harvesting butt of a minimum 100 litres has been 
installed. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable water management in accordance with policy S12 of 
the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
10. Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, a scheme of landscaping 
including details of the size, species and position or density of all trees and hedges to be 
planted, along with any new fencing/walls and hardstanding shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the visual impact of the development on the area is minimised and in the 
interests of providing biodiversity enhancements in accordance with the requirements of 
Policies S53, S60 and S61 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
11. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the dwelling 
or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed, 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 
similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any 
variation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that an approved landscaping scheme is implemented in a speedy and 
diligent way and that initial plant losses are overcome, in the interests of the visual amenities 
of the locality and occupiers of adjacent buildings and in accordance with Policies S53, S60 
and S61 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

Page 14



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

13 
 

 
Conditions which apply or relate to matters which are to be observed following 
completion of the development: 
 
None 
 
 
156 145253 - HEMSWELL CLIFF 

 
The Committee then heard details of the next application, number 145253, seeking 
permission to erect 196 dwellings and associated infrastructure, drainage, and open space, 
on land south of the A631, Hemswell Cliff. The Officer clarified an update to the 
recommendation, before giving a short presentation to the Committee.  
 
He explained that the Council’s own independent assessment concluded that it was not 
viable for the scheme to make full policy compliance on infrastructure, and after negotiations 
with the Developer, an additional £100,000 had been offered towards infrastructure, initially 
towards secondary education. However, as alternative funding was available to the local 
education authority through CIL funding, it was instead proposed that the money would be 
used to make a full £124,000 contribution towards the National Health Service. It was 
recommended that it was delegated to Officers to finalise negotiations with the Developer for 
any outstanding contribution money (£38,000) to be used against another area of 
infrastructure shortfall.  
 
The Chairman stated that there was one registered speaker for the application, and invited 
Fiona Beddoes, Applicant, to address the Committee. 
 
As Land Manager for Gleeson Homes, she explained that they provided affordable and high-
quality homes which provided a range of benefits, and specialised in entry-level housing, 
particularly for first time buyers. She added that the proposed development would generate 
income into the area, supporting a more sustainable and regenerated local community, 
highlighting how few workers in the local business park lived in the local area, due to the 
lack of affordable housing. It was explained that the Parish Council supported the 
development, particularly as it would potentially secure the ongoing use of the local primary 
school.  
 
The Applicant added that no objections had been raised by statutory consultees in relation to 
several areas. She continued that Gleeson Homes had worked with the Planning Officers to 
achieve an acceptable scheme, with provisions such as an improved footway along the 
southern boundary of the A631, with an uncontrolled tactile crossing, along with a Local 
Area of Play. It was also outlined that biodiversity net gain would exceed the 10% 
requirement. She then reiterated the Officer’s earlier update, adding that Gleeson Homes 
would provide the full contribution towards National Health Service facilities, as well as other 
improvements and infrastructure contributions.  
 
The Chair thanked the Applicant and asked for any Officer response, to which the Officer 
added that the Parish Council had expressed a desire for a puffin crossing as part of the 
development, which had not been set as a requirement by the Highways Agency, nor had it 
been proposed by the Developer. The lack of a proposed puffin crossing was raised later in 
the discussion with Members, with concerns raised about people’s safety crossing the road 

Page 15



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

14 
 

from the infants’ school.  
 
Two Members praised the proposed development for its affordable housing, and the 
potentially positive impact on increased local employment and sustainability in the 
community in uncertain times. Due to potential future change, a Member welcomed the 
possibility of refreshing the viability appraisal after two years, and proposed the 
recommendation outlined in the report. The heritage and community of Hemswell Cliff was 
praised by another Member, who emphasised how the proposed development could be 
positive for the regeneration of the area. 
 
At several points in the discussion Members of the Committee expressed concern at the 
proximity of the children’s play area to the surface water balancing areas, enquiring about 
the depth of the water, and whether adequate fencing would be provided to protect the 
children. An Officer responded, explaining that details in relation to this were part of the legal 
agreement, which had yet to be agreed between the Developer and the Council. The safety 
concerns were later highlighted by the Officer, who clarified that an amendment would be 
added to the recommendation in terms of the open space to include the security 
arrangements, including fencing for the Locally Equipped Area of Play.   
 
The Chair and Legal Advisor sought confirmation that the two amendments to the 
recommendation had been noted and both the proposing and seconding Members were 
content with the amended recommendation. With this confirmed, the Chairman took the 
vote, and it was 
 

RESOLVED that approval to GRANT planning permission be deferred and delegated 
to officers subject to the completion of a section 106 legal agreement that would 
deliver: 

 a contribution of £123,970.00 towards medical services  

 the extension and upgrading of the footway to a to the south of the A631 to a 
minimum width of 1.8m from Lancaster Green to Dog Kennel road 

 the provision of an uncontrolled tactile crossing point to connect to the existing 
footway on the northern side of the A631 at Gibraltar Road and Capper 
Avenue and details of the composition, management and maintenance of 
public open space, including security measures in the vicinity of proposed 
attenuation areas and ponds and the specification of the proposed Locally 
Equipped Area of Play and to allow officers to agree with the Applicants the 
use of the remaining £38.015 offered towards other infrastructure.  

If a start on site had not occurred within 2 years of the granting of permission, the 
viability assessment must be reviewed, and if it showed that contributions towards 
affordable housing and medical facilities would be viable, they must be made in 
accordance with details to be agreed. 

 
and imposition of the following planning conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To conform with Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 

Page 16



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

15 
 

2. No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan and Method 
Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The Plan and Statement shall include. 
 

 the phasing of the development to include access construction 

 the routes of construction traffic to and from the site 

 the on-site parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

 the on-site loading and unloading of all plant and materials. 

 the on-site storage of all plant and materials 

 Measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt during construction 

 Wheel Wash Facilities Page  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to restrict disruption to the living conditions of 
neighbouring dwellings and the surrounding area from noise, dust and vibration in 
accordance with policies S47 and S53 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
3. No development shall take place until a written Habitat Management and Maintenance 
Plan [HMMP] in accordance with the [Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA)] dated [June 
2022] and prepared by [SLR] is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The HMMP shall relate to all ‘significant’ biodiversity gains on site and must be 
strictly adhered to and implemented in full for a minimum of 30 years following completion of 
the development. The HMMP must contain the following: 
 
a. a non-technical summary. 
b. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering/monitoring the 
[HMMP]. 
c. the details of funding, resources and mechanisms for long term delivery of the [HMMP]. 
d. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve habitat.  

 i. Explanation as to how climate change models (RCP 8.5) have impacted 
management, species selection and/or provenance of woody species.  
ii. Explanation as to how soil sampling has impacted creation/enhancement of 
grassland habitats or any habitat creation on previous arable/contaminated land.  
iii. Explanation of how Hydrological surveys have impacted the creation and species 
selection of SUD features  
iv. Explanation habitat creation/enhancement has included micro-topologies to 
maximise ecological niches.  
v. Explanation as to the selection of donor site for green hay and/or choice of seed 
mixes  
vi. Explanation/specification as to any protected/notable species, mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement methods (such as the inclusion of beetle banks, 
wildlife towers, Hibernacula) within public open space. 

e. the management measures to maintain habitat for a period of 30 years from the 
completion of development. 

i. Explanations as to how minimum intervention management techniques have been 
prioritised.  
ii. Explanation as to frequency and method of grass cutting (where grazing is not 
used) ensuring nutrient level and ecological niches are managed appropriately.  
iii. Explanation as to how management allows for creation/maintenance of quality 
overwintering habitat.  

Page 17



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

16 
 

iv. Explanation as to how mosaic features within each habitat type will be supported 
whilst ensuring habitat definitions are maintained for the 30-year period.  
v. Explanation of methods employed to reduce/mitigate local scale anthropogenic 
risks (for example tree guards or restricting access) 

f) the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the retained, created and/or 
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority for years 1, 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 
25 and 30 following the completion of the development. 
g) Reports to the Local Planning Authority should use the Natural England HMMP 
Monitoring report template (Word) supplemented with either an updated Statutory Metric 
showing gains to date or Natural England HMMP Monitoring report template (Excel). 
Geostamped Photo evidence must also be provided. 
All reports must be submitted no later than September 1st on each reporting year 
h) the mechanisms of adaptive management and remedial measures to account for changes 
in the work schedule to achieve required targets. 
(Applicants are advised to use the Natural England HMMP Template found at 
https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5813530037846016) 
 
Reason: To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site double that of 
the minimum requirement which was afforded positive weight in the determination of the 
application. 
 
4. With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of this consent, the 
development hereby approved must be carried out in accordance with the following 
proposed drawings: 
 

 Planning Layout Drawing No. 21-770-03 Rev H 23.09.24 

 Landscape Plan Drawing No. WL-01 Rev F 03.04.24 

 Urban 201 House Type Drawing No. 21-201-U-0001 C02: 

 Urban 202 House Type Drawing No. 21-202-U-0001 C02; 

 Urban 250 House Type Drawing No. 21-250 -U -001 C01; 

 Urban 252 House Type drawing no. 21-252-U-0001 C01: 

 Urban 301 House Type drawing no. 21-301-U-0001 C02; 

 Urban 303 House Type drawing no. 21-303 -U-0001 C02; 

 Urban 304 House Type drawing no. 21-304-U-0001 C02: 

 Urban 311 House Type drawing no. 21-311-U-0001 C02; 

 Urban 313 House Type drawing no. 21-313-U-0001 C02 Page 108 

 Urban 314 House Type drawing no. 21-314-U-0001 C02. 

 Urban 340 House Type drawing no. 21-340-U-0001 C02. 

 Urban 350 House Type drawing no. 21-350-U-0001 C01: 

 Urban 360 House Type drawing no. 21-360-U-0001 C01. 

 Urban 401 House Type drawing no. 21-401 -U-0001 C02. 

 Urban 403 House Type drawing no. 21-403-U-0001 C02: 

 Urban 435 House Type drawing no. 21-435-U-0001 C03. 

 Urban 436 House Type drawing no. 21-436-U-0001 C02. 

 Gable Front Sales Garage drawing no. EY -01-07 Rev D. 

 201/ 301 House Types Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-101. 

 202 House Type Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-108. 

 403 (OP) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-119: 

 301/201 House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-102: 

Page 18

https://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5813530037846016


Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

17 
 

 304 (OP) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-111: 

 311 (OP) House Types Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-121. 

 314 (OP) House Type Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-113. 

 435 (OP) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-117: 

 337 (OP) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-115: 

 360 (AS) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-100: 

 313/340 (OP) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-574-125: 

 401 (OP) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-107: 

 436 (OP) House Type- Floor Plans and Elevations drawing no. No. 21-573-121: 

 1800mm high close boarded timber fence drawing no. SD-100. 

 600mm high post and wire fence drawing no. SD-103. 

 Detached Single Garage drawing no. SD1700. 

 Detached Double Garage drawing no. SD1701. 

 
The works must be carried out in accordance with the details shown on the approved plans 
and in any other approved documents forming part of the application. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the approved plans in the 
interests of proper planning.  
 
5. No construction works above ground level must take place until details of the proposed 
walling and roofing materials and all external hard surfaces have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. It shall thereafter be implemented in full 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in accordance with policy S53 of the 
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 
 
6. The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with an Estate Road 
Phasing and Completion Plan, which shall first be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Plan shall set out how the construction of the development will be phased and 
standards to which the estate roads on each phase will be completed during the construction 
period of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and pedestrian access is 
provided for residents throughout the construction period of the development in accordance 
with policy S47 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
7. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in full accordance with the details 
set out in the Noise Assessment prepared by Spectrum Acoustic Consultants dated 
02/08/2022 in particular pages 11 and 12 which identify the specification for sound insulation 
to achieve acceptable internal noise levels within the dwellings and mitigation to achieve 
acceptable noise levels in outdoor amenity spaces. These must be in place prior to 
occupation of the dwellings identified. 
 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable level of noise mitigation from the A631 within the hereby 
approved dwellings and in outdoor amenity areas in accordance with policy S53 of the 
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 

Page 19



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

18 
 

8. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in full accordance with the 
Ecological Impact Assessment prepared by SLR Consulting dated 02/08/2024 in particular 
the required mitigation measures identified in section 5. 
 
Reason: In the interests of Biodiversity protection in accordance with policy S60 of the 
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
9. Before any dwelling is occupied, all of that part of the estate road and associated 
footways that forms the junction with the main road and which will be constructed within the 
limits of the existing highway, shall be laid out and constructed to finished surface levels in 
accordance with details to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safety, to avoid the creation of pedestrian trip hazards within the 
public highway from surfacing materials, manholes and gullies that may otherwise remain for 
an extended period at dissimilar, interim construction levels in accordance with policies S47 
and S53 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
10. The permitted development shall not be occupied until those parts of the approved 
Travel Plan that are identified therein as being capable of implementation before occupation 
shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein and shall continue 
to be implemented for as long as any part of the development is occupied. 
 
Reason: In order that the permitted development conforms to the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, by ensuring that access to the site is sustainable and 
that there is a reduced dependency on the private car for journeys to and from the 
development 
 
11. All planting comprised in the approved details of landscaping shown on drawing number 
WL-01 Rev H dated 23.09. 2024.shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season 
following the occupation of the dwelling or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of 
the development die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements in accordance with policies S53, S60 and S61 of the Central Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (adopted April 2023) 
 
12. Prior to occupation of any dwelling they must each have a rain harvesting water butt of a 
minimum 100 litre capacity in place. 
 
Reason: In the interests of water efficiency in accordance with policy S12 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
13. No dwelling shall be occupied before evidence has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority that Anglian Water has capacity to treat foul drainage 
from the site. 
 

Page 20



Planning Committee-  9 October 2024 
 

19 
 

Reason: Anglian Water in their response to the application stated they had no capacity to 
treat foul drainage from the development and in accordance with policy S21 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
 
 
157 DETERMINATION OF APPEALS 

 
With no comments, questions or requirement for a vote, the determination of appeals report 
was NOTED. 
 
 
158 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  

 
Note:  The meeting entered closed session at 7:39pm 
 
 
159 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT - FORMAL CASE UPDATE 

 
A Committee Member enquired about a specific item on the Planning Enforcement report, 
which was clarified by another Member of the Committee. 
 
With no further comments, questions or requirement for a vote, the Planning Enforcement 
Report was NOTED. 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 7.42 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 21



Site Location Plan 147131- WL/2024/00036

 

Sudbrooke 

  Reepham 

 
    North 

Greetwell 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 6a



 

 

 

 

Officers Report  
Planning Application No: 147131 / WL/2024/00036  

PROPOSAL: Planning application for the construction and operation of a  
Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) including substations, inverters,  
transformer stations, cabling, fencing, internal service track and landscaping.  

 

LOCATION: Land south of Barfield Lane, Reepham, Lincoln 

WARD:  CHERRY WILLINGHAM  

 

WARD MEMBER(S): Cllr T Bridgwood, Cllr C Darcel, Cllr M Palmer. 
APPLICANT NAME: Mr Alex Dickenson- Fiskerton BESS Ltd.  

 

TARGET DECISION DATE:  01/12/2023 (Extension of time agreed until 8th 

November 2024)   
 

CASE OFFICER:  Danielle Peck  
 

Recommended Decision: Grant planning permission with conditions and 

delegate  to  officers  to  issue  an  approval  once  the  Legal  Agreement 
(Unilateral Undertaking) to secure a secondary access in the event of an 

emergency has been signed.    
 

The application is referred to the planning committee for determination 

following the request of Ward Member Cllr T Bridgwood, stating material 
planning considerations.   

 

Site Description: The application site covers an area of c. 1.3ha of agricultural 
land, it is located c. 650m to the north east of Reepham and to the south of 
Sudbrooke, it is located within the open countryside. The site is adjoined by a 

sewage water treatment works to the west and a gas/oil facility to the east. Part 
of the site which crosses over the Beck is located within Flood Zones 2 (medium 

probability) and 3 (high probability). There are a number of Public Rights of Way 

which run within close proximity to the site, namely;  
 

 Reep/109/7 and Reep/109/8 (along Barfields Lane) 

Reep/129/1 (to the west) Reep/129/2 (to the north). 
 

The  Proposal:  The  application  seeks  full  planning  permission  for  the 

installation and operation of a Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) with the 

capacity to store and export up to 53MW of electricity to the local distribution 

network for  up to  two hours.  It  would  be possible  for  the development  to 

distribute lower levels of power for longer periods of time, this will be dependent 
on the network capacity and peak demand periods. The facility will provide 

balancing services to the network.  The development will include the following:  
 

 16 No. battery units - Each battery container would measure 18.3m in  

length, 2.4m in width and 3m in total height, sited on concrete bases.   

Page 23



 

 

 

 

 16 No. inverters and 8 No. transformers; Inverters will measure 4.7m by  

3.5m with transformers measuring 4m by 4m.   

 132kV Developer and Distribution Network Operator (DNO) substation  

compound and associated cabins including a switchgear/meter room. 

The compound will measure 52.m by 25m and will be enclosed by a 

2.4m high palisade fence;  

 2 No. welfare cabins;  

 4 No. spare and storage containers;  

All of which will measure 12.m by 2.4m.  

 Underground cable to the point of connection with the local distribution  

network;  

 Perimeter fencing 2.4m high and inward facing infra-red CCTV;  

 Internal service road;  

 1.5metre high landscape screening bunds and native planting; and  

 Fire Water Storage Tank and Surface Water Attenuation Pond.  

The point  of  connection to the local  distribution network is  located on the 

existing 132kV overhead cables on land to the immediate north of Wragby Road 

East, North Greetwell, approximately 3.4km due west of the proposed battery 

compound.  

Throughout the application process additional information has been received 

and re consulted on where necessary, as follows;   

 Following  a  series  of  trial  trenches  a  final  Archaeological  Report  was 

received on 13/05/2024 - The  Historic Environment Officer at Lincolnshire 

County Council was re consulted.   

 A Battery Safety Management Plan- Fire Strategy by OWC, an amended 

Site Layout Plan and details of fire water tanks were received on 19/06/2024  

-  Lincolnshire  Fire  and  Rescue  Service  re  consulted  and  a  response 

received on 02/10/2024. Further consultation was also carried out with Star 

Energy (owner of adjacent site) on this additional information however no 

further response has been received.   

 Draft Legal Agreement (Unilateral Undertaking) received on 17/09/2024 to  

secure a secondary access in the event of an emergency.   

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)  

Regulations 2017: A screening opinion has been given by the  LPA under 
reference 145794, which stated the following. The development is “Schedule 2 

development”  and  has  therefore  been  subject  to  screening  to  determine 

whether or not an Environmental Impact Assessment is necessary. After taking 

account of  the criteria in Schedule 3 of  the 2017 Regulations It  has been  

Page 24



 

 

 

 

determined that the development IS NOT EIA development, i.e. it will not have 

significant environmental effects by virtue of its nature, size or location.  
 

Relevant Planning History:  
 

145794- EIA Screening Opinion for BESS - Not EIA development.  

Representations  (In  summary)-  Full  versions  of  the  representations 

received can be viewed on the Councils Website using the following link: 

West-Lindsey | Public Portal (statmap.co.uk)  
 

Cllr Trevor Bridgwood:  
 

26/06/2024- Thank you  for  providing a  copy of  the  applicants  Fire  Safety 

Statement. I am concerned that the document does not provide any detail of 
what precautions and safety systems will actually be installed in the proposed 

system. It makes reference to numerous bodies, guidance and standards but 
makes no attempt to confirm that any of them have been applied. Two of the 

Guidance documents that they refer to relate specifically to Fire, these are:   
• The Fire Protection Association “RE1: Battery Energy Storage Systems – 

Commercial Lithium-Ion Battery Installations” (December 2022)   
• The Fire Protection Association “RE2: Lithium-Ion Battery Use and Storage” 
January 2023.   
RE2 is about the storage of batteries rather than the use of batteries as storage. 
It’s  guidance relates to the storage of  unused batteries i.e. batteries being 

stored  for  distribution.  Paragraph  3.3  of  this  document  states  “There  are 

currently no specific UK or European guidelines for fire protection of lithium-ion 

batteries storage.” It goes on to refer to FM global documents and provides 

summaries from them. In regard to BESS sites the FM Global extract refers 

back to The Fire Protection Association publication RE1. I suggest that RE2 

itself is not relevant to this application.   
 

RE1 is therefore the appropriate publication referred to by the applicant  in 

regard to  the fire  protection for  the proposed site.  I  attach a copy of  this 

document  for  your  reference.  I  would  like  to  highlight  some points  in  the 

publication as follows: Section 3: “All BESS installations should be subject to a 

suitable fire risk assessment. I recommend that this is completed by a Fire 

Engineer who is a member of the Institute of Fire Engineers (IFE) and has 

experience in the specific field of BESS installations.   
 

Section 3 paragraph 2: Locate BESS systems in non-combustible containers 

or enclosures at least 3 metres from other equipment, buildings, structures and 

storage. The application is for 16 battery storage containers all of which appear 
to have less than this distance between the adjacent storage container.   

 

Section 3 paragraph 3: Walk-in containers and other enclosures used to house 

BESS  equipment  should  not  exceed  the  dimensions  of  long  “high  cube” 
shipping containers, i.e. maximum dimensions 16.2m long, 2.6m wide, 2.9m 

high.  The application drawing WB1001/14/07  Revision  0  gives  the battery 

container dimensions as: 18.575m long, 2.438m wide and 3.096m high. Two of  

Page 25

http://statmap.co.uk/


 

 

 

 

the proposed storage container dimensions are greater than the maximum 

given in the document that the client refers to in their Fire Safety Statement. 
The applicants fire safety statement far from easing my concerns regarding this 

application makes more concerned regarding the suitability of this planning 

application.   
 

03/11/2023- I would like to call  the planning application detailed below into 

committee  for  determination  on  the  grounds detailed  in  my emails  below. 
Planning application: 147131 Land south of Barfield Lane, Reepham, Lincoln, 
Reason:  The  application  is  for  a  development  that  is  beyond  the  existing 

knowledge of the Planning Department in regard to Fire Safety issues and 

potential environmental contamination in the event of a fire. Furthermore the 

potential hazards of BESS sites are not sufficiently covered by existing planning 

legislation in the form of Approved Documents.   
 

Sudbrooke Parish Council:  
 

03/11/2023-  Sudbrooke  Parish  Council  object  to  the  above  application  on 

grounds that safety precautions do not appear to have been taken into account. 
It is also requested that determination of the application should be made at full 
Planning Committee. It is understood that Councillor Trevor Bridgwood has 

already made this request.   
 

Reepham Parish Council:  
 

12/12/2023- Having now read the response submitted by the Fire Service in 

respect of this planning application, Reepham Parish Council is in full support 
of the Fire Services comments.   

 

06/11/2023- Further to our original response dated 29th Sept 2023, additional 
information has since been provided to Reepham Parish Council. Following 

consideration  of  this  additional  information  (provided  below),  and  also 

information from D/Cllr  T  Bridgwood, my Council  now wishes to make the 

following comments/objections to make on the proposal: o Reepham Parish 

Council strongly urges WLDC heed the additional comments and information 

and engage the appropriate authority to provide verification, or otherwise, of 
the concerns raised.   

 

29/09/2023-  

 The Council is happy with the overall prospect  

 Suggest inclusion of trees to preserve the rural aspect  

 Suggest an acknowledged archaeological watching brief during  

construction   

 Access  to  the  site  via  Meadows  Lane  (both  during,  and  after,  the  

construction  phase)  should  be  controlled;  with  a  view  to  preventing 

permanent access.   
 

Langworth Parish Council: This application has been brought to the attention 

of  Parish  Councillors  by  District  Cllr  Trevor  Bridgwood.  Concerns  and 

disappointment have been raised that Langworth Group Parish Council was  

Page 26



 

 

 

 

not directly consulted by West Lindsey District Council, even though the parish 

lies close to the site in question, and it is understood that at least one other 
parish council further afield has been consulted. Having considered matters, 
Langworth Group Parish Council formally resolved that it fully supports both 

the comments and concerns raised by District Cllr Trevor Bridgwood; as well 
as those submitted by neighbouring parish councils as seen on your website.   

 

Greetwell Parish Council: No comments to make on the application.  
 

Nettleham Parish Council: No comments to make on the application.  
 

Local residents/Third Party Representations:  
 

Objections and general observations have been received from the 

following 11 West Drive Sudbrooke and Rowsley, Station Road,  
Langworth  

 

Comments summarised as follows;  
 

 This application represents planning creep of an existing energy enterprise 

(Welton Oil Fields) and will lead to the further industrialisation of the area. 
This  piecemeal  planning  approach  does  not  afford  the  council  or  the 

community  the  opportunity  to  examine  the  long-term  ambitions  of  the 

enterprise, or consider the impact that will have on the whole area;  

 Safety concerns with the siting next to the gathering centre  

 Concerns with fire safety and lack of water storage;  

 Concerns that there is a high risk of explosion;  

 Concerns that toxic fumes in the event of a fire/explosion will cause harm to  

livestock;   

 Contamination risks to nearby water courses;  

 Flooding concerns and chemical run off;  

 Combined sewers could overflow;  

 Welfare  cabins-  is  there  no  sewage  facilities  on  site  for  maintenance  

workers;   

 Inaccuracies within the Archaeological report;  

 How is the electricity to be produced that will  be passed through these 
storage batteries. Will this be wind, solar, gas or oil generated electricity, 
and where/when will these facilities be sited.  

 

A general observation has been received from 28 Wragby Road,  
Sudbrooke- I live directly opposite this proposed site. I do not object as long 

as it is painted dark green and blends into the landscape. Ample screening  
needs to planted and should include some taller trees as the land slopes up  
considerably behind the Anglian water site and building here would be more  
visible. I currently look out onto arable farm land and I would like that to  
continue. I do object if this is a gateway for any wind turbines or further  
development.  

Page 27



 

 

 

 

A letter of support has been received from 3 Fiskerton Road, Reepham- 
The site proposed is ideal for embracing a future focused energy solution, well 
away from the general view for any residents of the parish sat amongst other 
utility stations. Furthermore, the site would not be taking prime agricultural land 

out of use yet still retains sensible access routes for public right of way and the 

aforementioned utilities.   
 

Star Energy (adjacent site operator)-  
 

11/03/2024- Whilst Star Energy benefit from planning consent for battery  
storage at Welton Gathering Centre (“WGC”) this is for a very small scale  
facility (3MW) relative to the 52MW envisaged in your clients application.  
Consistent with the view of the LFR, Star Energy would like to see more   
information to be content that the activities undertaken at the WGC have been 

adequately considered when designing the BESS scheme at your client’s site. 
It is noted that LFR have raised five specific comments, as follows:   

 

Battery systems have the potential for thermal runaway with possible explosive 

results,  so to  have such a hazard immediately adjacent  Welton Gathering 

Centre, a Lower Tier COMAH site, which holds large quantities of crude oil and 

hydrocarbons as well as piped natural gas throughout the site, from an LFR 

perspective is an unnecessary risk.   
 

This site would sit within the 500m Public Information Zone (PIZ) set by HSE, 
which sets boundaries for those people/businesses that would be affected by a 

major accident occurring at the site.   
 

With two such hazards adjacent to each other, any fire service operations in 

one area will be made more complicated by the presence of the other. For 
example hydrocarbon fires produce large quantities of thick black smoke, which if 
it were to enter the BESS containers could potentially lead to carbon arcing and 
possible thermal runaway.   

 

Access to the site is very limited, with only one road from a certain point. Whilst 
recognising this is the current situation with the established COMAH site, LFR 

would expect this to be rectified with a new build, taking into account prevailing 

winds. LFR would require alternative access and egress routes to allow safe 

firefighting operations.   
 

We would expect, Star Energy, site owner of Welton Gathering Centre, to have 

been  consulted  as  per  the  HSE guidance  relating  to  building adjacent  to 

COMAH sites.   
 

Star Energy would have a number of observations on these points as set 
out below:   

 

1. WGC is actually a “Upper Tier” COMAH site not a “Lower Tier”;  
 

2. Star Energy would  respectfully suggest that  it  is  for the developer of  a 

scheme in close proximity to a Upper Tier COMAH installation to produce a  

Page 28



 

 

 

 

Risk Reduction Strategy and/or COMAH Safety Report prepared in accordance 

with Schedule 3 of the 3rd edition Guidance of The Control of Major Accident 
Hazards Regulations 2015.  

 

3.  Such  report  should  address  how  the  construction,  operational  and 

decommissioning phases of  the given project  has been designed with  the 

presence of the given COMAH installation (in this case WGC) in mind, and how 

the same has the scope to interact with safe operation of the WGC;   
 

4. Such a report can be used to understand the scope for a “domino effect” 
under Regulation 24 of The Control of Major Accident Hazards Regulations 

2015.   
 

5. Notwithstanding Table 4.1 of the Supporting Statement, Star Energy requires 

more  information  on  HGV  activity  in  the  construction,  operational  and 

decommissioning phases of the project, to understand how this may impact on 

the operation of WGC. How would the higher intensity periods of HGV activity 

be managed in liaison with Star Energy;  
 

6. Does your client have any concerns for cumulative effects or risks when 

considering the  recently  approved  battery  storage  at  WGC and  their  own 

proposals;   
 

7. If your client is minded to engage services, Star Energy uses a company 

called Haztech who have already completed the relevant assessments for the 

WGC; 8. In the event your clients secure consent, Star Energy will need to 

trigger a review of their own Safety reports and external emergency planning 

procedures,  and  any  other  documents  to  ensure  full  compliance  with  the 

COMAH regulations.   
 

LCC Highways and Lead Local Flood Authority:  

Comments: Installation of the cable connection will be subject to:  

 If  the cable is to be installed by a third party (i.e. not a statutory utility  

company), then we would need to consider a Section 50 licence. We are 

not required to grant licences for longitudinal cabling, however, we have in 

similar circumstances   

 To consider approval of a Section 50, we would have to see a design which 

kept the cable out of the carriageway as far as possible. There are footways 

and wide verges here to utilise There is a Section 58 restriction on parts of 
the A158 on this route which prevents works in the carriageway until August 
2024   

 The A158 is a high traffic sensitive street, installation would need to avoid  

the coastal tourism season (April to end September)   

 There is a 3km level crossing protection zone on this section of the A158,  
so Network Rail consultation would be required and TM costs taking this 

and the traffic sensitive nature of street could be significant.   
 

Introduction/Site Location-Application for a Battery Energy Storage System on 

land at Barfield Lane, Reepham.  

Page 29



 

 

 

 

Existing Conditions -Greenfield site  
 

Highway safety -Application does not affect highway safety  
 

Highway  capacity-  Application  does  not  have  an  unacceptable  affect  on 

highway capacity   
 

Travel Plan- Not required  
 

Site Layout- Substations, inverters, transformer stations, hard standing and 

fencing   
 

Flood Risk and Drainage- Proposal has a suitable drainage system submitted 

as part of the application.   
 

Off-Site Improvements None required.  
 

No Objections. Having given due regard to the appropriate local and national 
planning policy guidance (in particular the National Planning Policy 

Framework),  Lincolnshire  County Council  (as Highway Authority  and Lead 

Local Flood Authority) has concluded that the proposed development would not 
be expected to have an unacceptable impact upon highway safety or a severe 

residual cumulative impact upon the local highway network or increase surface 

water  flood  risk  and  therefore  does  not  wish  to  object  to  this  planning 

application.    
 

Recommends a condition and an informative in the event permission is granted.  
 

 

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue:  
 

02/10/2024- Naturally we offered initial concerns about the BESS being so  
close to the Welton Gathering Centre, this will continue to form part of our risk 

gathering and pre incident considerations due to the processes, access etc.,  
but from the evidence provided we accept the controls that will be put in  
place, so would welcome a visit once work is complete to factor in our  
emergency response.  

 

We also appreciate the explanation about modern designs aiming to reduce 

the risk of thermal runaway, due to cell monitoring, cut offs and insurance  
mitigation due to the spacing between containers.   
Again, being able to see these units first hand will allow us better planning,  
when we have the possibility to visit.  

 

The alternative access via an emergency exit appeases the point around  
being able to get a fire vehicle in if there were an incident, allowing for the  
possibility if one exit was blocked/restricted and affording us an attack from  
either direction depending on water provision and prevailing winds for smoke, 
access and egress etc.  

Page 30



 

 

 

 

Lastly recognising we are still non statutory consultee, we appreciate the  
plans and being involved, so our questions have been answered explaining 

the mitigation at this stage  

 

07/11/2023- I refer to the planning application reference 147131 – Land south 

of Barfield Lane Reepham Lincoln. Whilst recognising that Lincolnshire Fire & 

Rescue(LFR) are not statutory consultees as this is not a Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project, (NSIP), we are always willing to engage with all such 

projects within Lincolnshire.  LFR recognises the use of  batteries (including 

lithium-ion) as Energy Storage Systems (ESS) is a new and emerging practice 

in the global renewable energy sector. As with all new and emerging practices 

within UK industry the Service would like to work with the developers to better 
understand any risks that may be posed and develop strategies and procedures 

to mitigate these risks.  
 

The developer should produce a risk reduction strategy (Regulation 38 of the 

Building Regulations) as the ‘responsible person’ for the scheme, as stated in 

the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. We would also expect that 
safety measures and risk mitigation plans are developed in collaboration with 

LFR.   
 

The strategy should cover the construction, operational and decommissioning 

phases of the project. During the construction phase the number of daily vehicle 

movements in the local area will significantly increase. The Service will want to 

view the transport strategy to minimise this impact and prevent an increase in 

the number of  potential  road traffic  incidents.  Any development should not 
negatively impact on the Service’s ability to respond to an incident in the local 
area.   

 

LFR works within the guidance of the National Fire Chief’s Council (NFCC) who 

have been working with several government departments to ensure that fire 

and rescue  services  are  made aware  of  any new proposals.  NFCC have 

created a guidance document (link below) that constitutes LFR’s requirements 

for new BESS development proposals.   
 

Following the work of NFCC, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities (DLUHC) has revised its Planning Policy Guidance to include 

reference to BESS. The guidance is available here: Renewable and low carbon 

energy - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  
 

LFR are aware that large scale BESS incorporates new technology, and as 

such risks may or may not be captured in current guidance in pursuance of the 

Building Regulations (as amended) and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005. This will highlight challenges the FRS have when responding to 

Building Regulations consultations. For this reason, we strongly recommend 

applying the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 855 Standard for the 

Installation of Stationary Energy Storage Systems.   
 

Whilst above I have laid out LFR’s general response to any BESS applications 

the proposed location of this application does raise some specific concerns.   

Page 31

http://www.gov.uk/


 

 

 

 

 

 Battery  systems  have  the  potential  for  thermal  runaway  with  possible 

explosive results, so to have such a hazard immediately adjacent Welton 

Gathering Centre, a Lower Tier COMAH site, which holds large quantities 

of crude oil and hydrocarbons as well as piped natural gas throughout the 

site, from an LFR perspective is an unnecessary risk.   

 This site would sit within the 500m Public Information Zone(PIZ) set by HSE, 
which sets boundaries for those people/businesses that would be affected 
by a major accident occurring at the site.   

 With two such hazards adjacent to each other, any fire service operations 

in one area will be made more complicated by the presence of the other. 
For  example  hydrocarbon  fires  produce  large  quantities  of  thick  black 

smoke, which if it were to enter the BESS containers could potentially lead 

to carbon arcing and possible thermal runaway.   

 Access to the site is very limited, with only one road from a certain point. 
Whilst recognising this is the current situation with the established COMAH 

site, LFR would expect this to be rectified with a new build, taking into 

account prevailing winds. LFR would require alternative access and egress 

routes to allow safe firefighting operations.   

 We would expect, Island Gas, site owner of Welton Gathering Centre, to 

have been consulted as per the HSE guidance relating to building adjacent 
to COMAH sites.  

 

National Grid: There are no National Gas Transmission gas assets affected 

in this area.  
 

Fisher German- Government Pipelines- No representations received to 

date.   
Health and Safety Executive: PADHI- Does not advise against. Contact  
pipeline operators.   

 

PADHI Web App: Does not advise against.  
 

If the proposed development is located within a safeguarding zone for a HSE 

licensed explosives site then please contact HSE's Explosives Inspectorate. 
Their contact email is Explosives.planning@hse.gov.uk.   

 

The HSE Land Use Planning Web App can be used to find out if a site is within 

an explosives site zone (as well as in zones for major hazard sites and major 
accident hazard pipelines). If you require access to the HSE Web App then 

please contact the Land Use Planning Team (lupenquiries@hse.gov.uk)   
 

If the development is over a major accident hazard pipeline or in the easement 
around a major accident hazard pipeline, please consult the pipeline operator. If 
the development involves a new substation or the storage of electrical 
energy such as in a large battery storage unit and the development is 

proposed adjacent  to  a  COMAH (Control  of  Major  Accident  Hazards) 
establishment then please consult the operator of the COMAH 

establishment.   

Page 32

mailto:Explosives.planning@hse.gov.uk
mailto:lupenquiries@hse.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

If the development involves a substation or the storage of electrical energy such 

as in a large battery storage unit and is proposed in the vicinity of a nuclear site 

the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) does wish to be consulted over such 

proposals. They can be contacted on ONRLand.Use-Planning@onr.gov.uk  

 

Environment Agency: Environment Agency position The proposed 

development  will  only  meet  the  National  Planning  Policy  Framework’s 

requirements in relation to flood risk if the recommended  planning conditions 

(2) are included. Also recommends informatives in the event permission is 

granted.   
 

Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust: From an ecology perspective the proposal seems 

perfectly reasonable with the PEA and BNG assessment conducted 

appropriately.  Providing  the  recommendations  for  habitat  and  species 

mitigation are followed in Table 2 then the development should progress without 
any undue damage to the natural environment in the immediate vicinity.  

 

LCC Minerals and Waste Team: W8: Safeguarding of Waste Management 
Sites, of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies document 2016). This policy safeguards 

existing and allocated waste management facilities from development which 

may prevent or prejudice the effective operation of such facilities. The proposed 

site is located immediately adjacent to a Sewage Works which is safeguarded 

against incompatible development by policy W8. Sewage works are odorous in 

their nature therefore sufficient separation from sensitive uses, dwellings or 
places of work is required to ensure that additional constraints are not placed 

upon the operation of the sewage works. The proposal also immediately abuts 

the IGas gathering station. This facility is not specifically identified/safeguarded 

in the minerals and waste plan, but this is a strategic facility for the supply of 
hydrocarbons from the Welton Oil Field therefore the agent of change principle 

set out in the NPPF should be taken fully into account. It is noted that once 

operational, employees of the BESS will only be on site sporadically and not on 

a permanent basis, therefore an odour assessment which would be required 

under Policy W8 to assess the impact of the Sewage Works on the proposed 

development is not considered necessary in this instance. However, sufficient 
information should be requested from the applicant to demonstrate that the 

proposed development would not prejudice or detrimentally impact upon the 

operation of these neighbouring land uses or cause any other issues/hazards 

due to proximity. Relevant issues to consider may include access, health and 

safety (including fire safety/risk), screening/boundary treatments, site buffers, 
and the need to protect any associated utilities and infrastructure/pipelines. 
Subject  to  the  District  Council  taking  these  matters  into  account  and  no 

objections being raised by the appropriate  technical  experts  consulted,  as 

Minerals and Waste Planning Authority we would have no objections to the 

proposed development.  
 

LCC Archaeology:  
 

09/05/2024- A programme of pre-determination archaeological evaluation trial 
trenching was carried  out  in  the  proposed  site  of  Battery  Energy Storage  

Page 33

mailto:ONRLand.Use-Planning@onr.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

System (WLDC planning application 147131). Romano-British archaeological 
features were recorded to the south of the site indicating that this area was 

probably on the edge of settlement activity which likely extends further south 

up  the  hill.  Given  the  presence  of  these  archaeological  remains  and  the 

potential for further remains in the southern area outside of  the excavated 

trenches, I recommend that an archaeological strip map and sample (SMS) is 

carried out in the southern area previously discussed with the applicant’s agent 
and archaeological contractor. This is to record any further archaeology prior to it 
being impacted by the proposed development.   

 

The proposed  cable  route  running  from the  main  Battery  Energy  Storage 

System site to North Greetwell runs through an area of high archaeological 
potential.  The  proposed  cable  route  runs  past  areas  where  cropmarks  of 
archaeological origin are recorded, as well as alongside a known Roman Road 

from Lincoln to Burgh le Marsh, in an area where archaeological remains have 

previously been recorded. I recommend that archaeological monitoring and 

recording is carried out for the proposed cable route during groundworks to 

record any surviving archaeological remains prior to their destruction.  
 

These  recommendations  can  be  secured  through  the  standard  condition 

wording we recommend for  archaeological  schemes of  works.  Please see 

below the three-part condition wording. Part 1 should be a pre-commencement 
condition,  ensuring that  an archaeological  Written Scheme of  Investigation 

(WSI)/Specification is approved by the LPA which ensures compliance with the 

above  recommendations.  A  single  WSI  addressing  both  the  SMS  and 

archaeological  monitoring and recording can be submitted or two separate 

WSIs. Either way is valid as long as the archaeological mitigation work for the 

southern area of the main site and the cable route are addressed. The WSI 
should also link to any relevant construction management plans and ensure 

that the area designated for SMS is not disturbed until all archaeological works 

have taken place and a report has been produced. The two remaining parts of 
the condition wording can be post-commencement conditions which need to 

adhere to what is set out in the WSI approved in part 1, once this condition is 

discharged.  
 

WLDC Trees and Landscape Officer:  
 

Potential  effect on any trees or hedges on or near the site:  There are no 

protected trees (TPO or conservation area) within the site boundaries. Non- 
protected trees within or adjacent to the site have been identified within the 

submitted arboricultural  report  as 6  individual  trees,  one group,  and three 

hedgerows.   
 

Individual trees – most of the 6 individual trees are assessed as Category C 

trees.  These are  trees of  low quality that  should  not  pose a constraint  to 

development proposals. Just two of the trees have been assessed as Category 

B, which are trees of moderate quality that should be retained if possible. These 

are T1 field maple and T5 ash which are part of a line of trees adjacent the 

cable route at the junction of Barfields Lane and the track to the sewage works 

and site.  T1 maple is the tree closest  to the proposed cable route and is  

Page 34



 

 

 

 

proposed to be removed. T5 is at the opposite end of the line of 5 trees and is 

the furthest way from the proposals so should not be affected, and it is shown 

on the plans as to be retained.   
 

Tree Groups – One group has been identified, and is a small group of goat 
willow within the ditch adjacent to the track between Barfields Land and the 

sewage works/and site. These have been assessed as category C and have 

been cut back in the past. These are identified for removal.   
 

Hedges – Three hedgerows are listed in the arb survey but the plans only show 

H2 and H3, both of which are to be retained. The report text informs that H1 is 

to be removed, but the plan does not clarify where it is located. H1 is of low 

quality and contains just elder and hawthorn. Hedgerows are ‘priority’ habitats 

that  should  be  retained  where  possible.  They  provide  important  wildlife 

corridors, especially when connected to others. Landscape proposals include a 
new mixed species native hedgerow near trees T1 to T5, and there is a good 

variety of species in the proposed native mix bund planting, including 115 field 

maples. The types of tree protection fencing as shown in the aboricultural report 
are suitable, and should be used where needed.   

 

Conclusion I have no objections to the proposals in terms of impact to trees 

and hedges. Landscape proposals will provide compensation for the intended 

loss  of  the  vegetation  identified  in  the  arboriculture  report.  The  proposed 

planting would provide a more varied species mix and would increase the 

landscaping at the site.   
 

Relevant Planning Policies and Legislation:  
Planning  law  requires  that  applications  for  planning  permission  must  be 

determined  in  accordance  with  the  development  plan  unless  material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Here, the Development Plan comprises the 

provisions of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (adopted in April 2023), the 

Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (adopted June 2016).   
 

Development Plan  
 

 Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 2023 –  
 

Relevant policies of the CLLP include:  
Policy S1: The Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy  
Policy S5: Development in the Countryside  
Policy S16: Wider Energy Infrastructure  
Policy S21: Flood Risk and Water Resources  
Policy S47: Accessibility and Transport  
Policy S53: Design and Amenity  
Policy S54: Health and Wellbeing  
Policy S57: The Historic Environment  
Policy S60: Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity  
Policy S61: Biodiversity Opportunity and Delivering Measurable Net Gains 

Policy S66: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows  

Policy S67: Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land  

Page 35



 

 

 

 

 

https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/central-lincolnshire/adopted-local-plan-2023  
 

• Draft Reepham Neighbourhood Plan;  

NPPF paragraph 48 states that Local planning authorities may give weight to 

relevant policies in emerging plans according to:  
(a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced  
its preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);  
(b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant  
policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the  
weight that may be given); and  

(c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging  
plan to this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to  
the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be  
given).  

The  Reepham  Neighbourhood  Plan  is  currently  at  examination  stage 

(Regulation  17).  The  examiner  is  currently  considering  all  representations 

received from consultation on the final plan submitted and scrutinise the plan 

against relevant legislation. An examination hearing has recently been held 

(25/09/2024), however this was only in relation to the specific matters around 

the proposed housing allocations and does not affect this application.  

The policies within the plan can now be afforded increasing weight, the most 

relevant policies are as follows;   

Policy 1: Historic Environment  

Policy 2: Design of New Development  

Policy 11: Important Views and Vistas Reepham Character Area Assessment 

https://reepham.parish.lincolnshire.gov.uk/parish-information/neighbouring- 

planning/1  

 

 Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (LMWLP)  
 

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/planning/minerals-waste  
 

The site is in a Minerals Safeguarding Area and policy M11 of the Core 

Strategy applies.  
 

Policy W8- Safeguarding of Waste Management Sites also applies here.  
 

National policy & guidance (Material Consideration)  
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 

The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how 

these should be applied. It is a material consideration in planning decisions.  

Page 36

https://www.n-kesteven.gov.uk/central-lincolnshire/adopted-local-plan-2023
https://reepham.parish.lincolnshire.gov.uk/parish-information/neighbouring-planning/1
https://reepham.parish.lincolnshire.gov.uk/parish-information/neighbouring-planning/1
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/planning/minerals-waste


 

 

 

 

The most recent iteration of the NPPF was published in December 2023.  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planningpolicy- 
framework--2  

 

 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  
 

In particular, NPPG: Renewable and Low Carbon energy provides planning 

guidance specific to Battery Energy Storage Systems:  
 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy#battery- 

energy-storage-systems   
 

 National Design Guide (2019)  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide  
 

 National Model Design Code (2021)  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code  
 

Other Relevant Guidance:  
 

National Fire Chiefs Council- Grid Scale Battery Energy Storage System 

Planning - Guidance for FRS (version 1, 2023):   
 

Document text here (nfcc.org.uk)  

Draft NFCC Grid Scale Energy Storage System Planning – Guidance for 
Fire and Rescue Services (July 2024)  
(Consultation closed August 2024)  

 

Draft Grid Scale Energy Storage System Planning Guidance - NFCC  
 

Health and Safety in grid scale electrical energy storage systems:  
 

Health and safety in grid scale electrical energy storage systems (accessible 

webpage) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  

Main Considerations:  

 Principle of Development;  

 Best and Most Versatile Land / Loss of Agricultural Land; 
 Health, Battery Safety, Pollution and Fire Risk;  
 Flood Risk and Drainage;  
 Visual Amenity inc. Trees and Landscaping;  
 Highway Safety/Access;  
 Archaeology;  

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planningpolicy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planningpolicy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidanceIn
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidanceIn
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy#battery-energy-storage-systems
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/renewable-and-low-carbon-energy#battery-energy-storage-systems
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code
http://nfcc.org.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/


 

 

 

 

 Residential Amenity;  
 Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain: 
 Minerals and Waste:  
 Other Matters  

 

Assessment:  

Principle of the Development:  

Planning  law  requires  that  applications  for  planning  permission  must  be 

determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  

The application site is clearly within the open countryside being separated  

from nearby settlements by large distances. The proposal would therefore fall  

under Tier 8 of Policy S1.   

With reference to tier 8 (Countryside) Policy S1 of the Central Lincolnshire  

Local Plan states that; Unless allowed by:  

a) policy in any of the levels 1-7 above; or  
b) any other policy in the Local Plan (such as Policies S4, S5, S34, or S43) or  
a relevant policy in a neighbourhood plan, development will be regarded as  
being in the countryside and as such restricted to:  
• that which is demonstrably essential to the effective operation of agriculture, 
horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation, transport or utility services;  
• delivery of infrastructure;  
• renewable energy generation; and  
• minerals or waste development in accordance with separate Minerals and 

Waste Local Development Documents.  

It is noted that under criteria b) of the above there is reference to utility services 

being one  of  the  restrictions  allowed within  an  open  countryside  location. 

However, the policy also states that such proposals must be ‘demonstrably 

essential’ to its effective operation. Part E of Policy S5 relates to Non-residential 

development in the countryside and states that proposals for non-residential 

development will be supported provided that:  

a) The rural location of the enterprise is justifiable to maintain or enhance the  

rural economy or the location is justified by means of proximity to existing  

established businesses or natural features;  

b) The location of the enterprise is suitable in terms of accessibility;  

c) The location of the enterprise would not result in conflict with neighbouring  

uses; and  

d) The development is of a size and scale commensurate with the proposed  

use and with the rural character of the location.  

Policy S16 is also applicable here and relates to wider energy infrastructure of 

the CLLP states that; Where planning permission is needed from a Central  

Page 38



 

 

 

Lincolnshire authority, support will be given to proposals which are necessary 

for, or form part of, the transition to a net zero carbon sub-region, which could 

include:  energy  storage  facilities  (such  as  battery  storage  or  thermal 

storage);  and  upgraded  or  new electricity  facilities  (such  as  transmission 

facilities, sub-stations or other electricity infrastructure.  

However,  any  such  proposals  should  take  all  reasonable  opportunities  to 

mitigate any harm arising from such proposals, and take care to select not only 

appropriate locations for such facilities, but also design solutions (see Policy 

S53) which minimises harm arising.  

The application seeks permission for the installation and operation of a battery 

energy  storage  system.  The  proposal  will  provide  a  balancing service  for 

electricity. The electricity will be taken from an existing pylon at North Greetwell 

(c. 3.4km to the west) at low demand times, it will then be stored within the 

containers and released back into the grid at high demand times.   

The key determining factor to identifying the location of a BESS is proximity to 

available grid capacity. The Distribution Network Operator (DNO) determines 

where energy generation projects can connect on the network as this is based 

on complex technical and operational criteria. In this case the DNO identified 

the point of connection is a pylon located 3.4km to the west of the application 

site, located in a field to the north of Wragby Road East, as being suitable for 

such a connection. It is acknowledged that usually a closer distance between 

the  proposed  development  and  the  point  of  connection  is  preferred.  It  is 

considered that the proposal by virtue of its proximity to the existing pylon is 

acceptable. Also, by virtue of its proposed use, it is considered that an open 

countryside location, away from residential areas/ sensitive receptors is the 

most appropriate. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would meet with 

criteria a of Policy S5. Criteria b, c and d are assessed in the relevant sections 

within this report.     

The NPPF also recognises that the planning system should support the  

transition to a low carbon future. Paragraph 157 states that;  

The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a 

changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should 

help  to:  shape  places  in  ways  that  contribute  to  radical  reductions  in 

greenhouse  gas  emissions  minimise  vulnerability  and  improve  resilience; 

encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of existing 

buildings;  and  support  renewable  and  low  carbon  energy  and  associated 

infrastructure.  

Paragraph 032 of the NPPG states that; Electricity storage can enable us to 

use energy more flexibly and de-carbonise our energy system cost-effectively  

– for example, by helping to balance the system at lower cost, maximising the 

usable output from intermittent low carbon generation (e.g. solar and wind), and 

deferring or avoiding the need for costly network upgrades and new generation 

capacity.  

Page 39



 

 

 

There is support at local and national level to ensure low carbon infrastructure 

is supported. The proposal would help to deliver a sustainable energy supply 

and provide an important balancing service for the national grid. In principle the 

proposal is supported, subject to an assessment of other material 

considerations.   

Best and Most Versatile Land / Loss of Agricultural Land  

Policy S67 states that; Proposals should protect the best and most versatile 

agricultural  land so as to protect  opportunities for food production and the 

continuance of the agricultural economy. Development resulting in significant 

loss of the best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land will only be supported  

if:  

a) The need for the proposed development has been clearly established and  

there is insufficient lower grade land available at that settlement (unless  

development of such lower grade land would be inconsistent with other  

sustainability considerations); and  

b) The benefits and/or sustainability considerations outweigh the need to  

protect such land, when taking into account the economic and other benefits   

of the best and most versatile agricultural land; and  

c) The impacts of the proposal upon ongoing agricultural operations have   

been minimised through the use of appropriate design solutions; and  

d) Where feasible, once any development which is supported has ceased its  

useful life the land will be restored to its former use (this condition will be  

secured by planning condition where appropriate).  

Footnote  62  of  the  NPPF  states  that;  Where  significant  development  of 

agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer quality land 

should be preferred to those of a higher quality. The availability of agricultural 

land  used  for  food  production  should  be  considered,  alongside  the  other 

policies in this Framework, when deciding what sites are most appropriate for 

development.  

Consideration is also given to Natural England advice which states that “You  

should take account of smaller losses (under 20ha) if they’re significant when  

making your decision.”  

The application has been submitted with an agricultural  land quality report 

which details the results of soil testing on the land. The results of the testing 

show that the area where the site (built form) will be in an area of 3a Grade 

Land, which qualifies as BMV. It should also be noted that c. 25% of the site is 

not currently in agricultural use and is covered in scrub vegetation. The land 

remaining around the site would still be available for agriculture use. Given that 

the amount of land to be used for the development would be relatively minor 

and does  not  comprise  of  significant  loss of  Grade 1 or  2  land,  it  is  not 

considered that the loss would be significant and would accord with Policy S67 

and the provisions of the NPPF.   

Page 40



 

 

 

 

 

 

. The location of such sites are of particular 

interest to fire and rescue services who will seek to obtain details of the design, 

and firefighting access and facilities at these sites in their register of site specific 

risks that they maintain for the purposes of Section 7 of the Fire and Rescue 

Services Act 2004.  

Whilst they are not a statutory consultee, National Planning Practice Guidance 

(NPPG) encourages local planning authorities "to consult with their local fire 

and rescue service as part of the formal period of public consultation prior to 

deciding the planning application". In accordance with the guidance, 

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue have been consulted throughout consideration of 

this application.   

Initial comments from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue raised concerns in relation 

to thermal runway, compatibility with the Star Energy site, the absence of a 

secondary access for emergency vehicles, and other fire risk matters.   

Since the consultation response was received the applicant has submitted an  

outline Battery Safety Management Plan- Fire Strategy by OWC, which was  

received by the LPA in June 2024.   

The report sets out, in significant detail how the site will be operated with safety 

management.  It  includes  details  on  mitigation  by  design,  quality  control, 

monitoring, emergency management, fire strategy, fire incident response and 

fire safety management.   

The  NPPG  encourages  local  planning  authorities  "to  consider guidance 

produced  by  the  National  Fire  Chiefs  Council   when  determining  the 

application." Whilst this is not part of the statutory development plan against 

which planning decisions must be made, it is a material consideration that may 

be given weight in the determination of the application.   

The National  Fire  Chief  Councils  Guidance  advises  "A  standard  minimum 

spacing between units of 6 metres is suggested unless suitable design features 

can  be  introduced  to  reduce  that  spacing.  If  reducing  distances  a  clear, 

evidence based, case for the reduction should be shown."  The proposed site  

plan shows that there will be a 3 metre separation distance. Within table 6-1 of 

the battery safety management plan there is significant detail on relevant design 

safety features which are considered to justify the 3m separation distances in 

this case, as follows:   

• Design of the BESS to the UL9540A requirements  
• Provision of fire fighting water supplies and fire water storage.  
•  Monitoring  systems  to  measure  cell  voltage,  currents  and  temperatures, 
where detection of potentially hazardous temperatures or other conditions shall  

 

 

1 Document text here (nfcc.org.uk)  

Health, Battery Safety, Pollution and Fire Risk  

For BESS sites applicants are encouraged to consider guidance produced by  

the National Fire Chiefs Council  

Page 41

http://nfcc.org.uk/


 

 

 

 

result in the electrical disconnection of the affected BESS container to prevent, 
detect and minimize the risk of thermal runaway.   
• Inclusion of automatic thermal, gas, smoke and fire detection systems that 
have been certified to meet NFPA 72  

 • Inclusion of suitable fire suppression system.  
•  Inclusion  of  explosion  control  /  deflagration  venting  in  accordance  with 

relevant standards.   
• Designing the layout to ensure that firefighting personnel could tackle a fire in 

any block of units from the internal access track  

The proposed design and spacing is considered to be justified from a fire safety 

perspective. The battery containers are also 10m away from any surrounding 

proposed vegetation, this is in accordance with the guidance. Given that the 

battery containers/types are constantly evolving the final battery 

designs/specifications will be secured by condition prior to their installation.   

In relation to water supplies the proposal shows a 228kL water storage tanks, 

the tank will be located a minimum of 10m from the nearest battery cabinet, 

which complies with the guidance. The guidance recommends that there is a 

firefighting supply of 1,900L/minute for a duration of 2 hours. The water storage 

tank that is incorporated into the design will be sufficient to provide 2 hours’ 

supply of water at the recommended flow rate.   

The National Fire Chief Council’s guidance also states that BESS Sites should 

have two access points. This is due to the differing directions of winds in the 

event of a fire and that smoke may stop fire fighters being able to access the 

site from only one specific point. The applicant has submitted a Unilateral 

Undertaking (Legal Agreement) to secure that a secondary access point can 

be made available through the agricultural fields, where the existing tracks are 

used by farm machinery, in the event of an emergency.   

Since the amended information and battery safety plan was provided a re 

consultation was carried out  with  Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue service.  In 

summary they state the following;   

- Naturally we offered initial concerns about the BESS being so close to   

the Welton Gathering Centre, this will continue to form part of our risk  

gathering and pre incident considerations due to the processes, access 

etc., but from the evidence provided we accept the controls that will be  

put in place, so would welcome a visit once work is complete to factor   

in our emergency response;  

- We also appreciate the explanation about modern designs aiming to  

reduce the risk of thermal runaway, due to cell monitoring, cut offs and   

insurance mitigation due to the spacing between containers.   

- The alternative access via an emergency exit appeases the point   

around being able to get a fire vehicle in if there were an incident,  

allowing for the possibility if one exit was blocked/restricted and   

Page 42



 

 

 

affording us an attack from either direction depending on water  

provision and prevailing winds for smoke, access and egress etc.   

Neighbouring land use- Concerns have been raised by consultees, including 

Star Energy, regarding the neighbouring oil refinery (Welton Gathering Site) 

and how the  development  will  run  alongside  this  existing operation. The 

submitted  Battery  Safety  Management  plan  fully  details  risk  reduction 

measures, taking into account this neighbouring land use. A copy of the final 

version of the report would also be issued to Star Energy as evidence of a risk 

reduction  plan.  With  the  plan  and  risk  reduction  measures  in  place,  it  is 

considered that the sites could run adjacent to each other, safely, for land-use 

planning purposes.   

BESS Fire Incidents- It is understood that best practice for managing a fire 

event is for the Fire Services to let the container burn from a safe inaccessible 

distance. In relation to the smoke plume from burning lithium-ion batteries, the 

toxicity of the fumes from a burning BESS are generally accepted as being 

comparable to those from burning diesel or petrol vehicles. There would be 

more hydrofluoric gas, but this is highly reactive, and residues have not been 

found in the analysis of fire incidents at BESS sites. There is no evidence of 

contamination or high concentrations of  toxic gases from either the limited 

number of BESS fires that have taken place or in laboratory assessments, 

including large-scale tests by a leading expert in the field. The only recorded 

BESS incident in the UK at Carnegie Road, Liverpool in 2020 which led to no 

damage to the environment or any personal injury. The Hazardous Materials 

Environmental  Protection  Officers  undertook  a  comprehensive  assessment 

following the event and did not record any high concentrations of toxic gases. 

The key lessons learned detailed within the significant incident report is that 

information should be on site and accessible to emergency responders in the 

event  of  an  incident.  Clear  warnings,  Boxes  containing  site  information, 

emergency contact  numbers,  and installation identification numbers are all 

recommended in order to help emergency responders.   

Water contamination- Concerns have been raised in relation to contamination 

of nearby water courses in the event of a battery fire. The battery containers 

will have a low earth bund around edge of the compound, which will contain 

any water used in the event of a fire. Once extinguished, the water remains on 

site until it can be tested. If no contaminants are found within the water then it 

can be released into the surface water system via a valve. If the water is found 

to be contaminated it is taken away from the site and disposed of appropriately.  
 

Safety of batteries- Factory Acceptance Testing (FAT) will be conducted prior 

to the transport of the energy storage system to site to aid the detection of any 

faults in the system and reduce the likelihood of defective materials entering 

the Site. Following the installation of the energy storage system, the installation 

will only be accepted via Site Acceptance Testing (SAT) and commissioning 

testing. The purpose of this testing is to identify any damage that may have  

Page 43



 

 

 

been  sustained  during  transportation,  ensure  that  the  system  is  installed 

properly,  and  that  the  battery  management  and  protection  systems  are 

operating properly. Any system installed on-site will be compliant with the UL 

certifications and large scale fire testing requirements (safety standards). This 

will ensure the installed BESS cabinets contain cells and modules that have 

been  tested  against  thermal  runaway  propagation  or  fire  spread  between 

cabinets  

Subject to condition that a final Battery Safety Management Plan/ Fire Strategy 

is  submitted and approved in writing prior  to the operation of  the site,  the 

proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of fire safety and would accord 

to the guidance produced by the National Fire Chiefs council. It is considered 

to meet with the best  practice proposed by the National Planning Practice 

Guidance  and  policy  S16  which  requires  that  proposals  should  take  all 

reasonable opportunities to mitigate any harm arising from such proposals.   

In Summer 2024, the National Fire Chief's Council undertook consultation  on a 
draft update to their Guidance. As this has yet to be formally adopted by the 

NFCC, having taken into account the consultation responses, it has not yet 
superseded version 1 at the time of writing and should only carry limited weight 
as a material  consideration.  Nonetheless,  it  continues  to  advise  achieving 

suitable access and adequate water supplies. In terms of spacing between 

BESS, it no longer prescribes a distance but advises "Adequate separation 

between the BESS enclosures to ensure that the radiant heat from a thermal 
event in one BESS will not trigger a secondary event."   

The comments and concerns from Cllr  Bridgwood are noted.  Reference is 

made to guidance documents on BESS installations , the need for a fire risk 

assessment by an appropriate person, and the dimensions of the containers 

exceeding those recommended.   

As discussed above, the applicant has submitted an outline Battery Safety 

Management  Plan-  Fire  Strategy,  a  final  version  of  this  statement  is 

recommended to be secured by condition. It is considered that the statement 

has been completed by a competent person and the LPA has consulted with 

the Lincs Fire & Rescue who have reviewed and commented.  Also detailed in 

the above section are the reasons for why the battery container sizes and 

separation distances are considered to be appropriate, taking into account the 

National Fire Chiefs Council guidance.   

Flood Risk and Drainage  

Part of the site lies in flood zones 2 (medium probability) and 3 (high probability). 

In relation to flood risk Policy S21 of the CLLP states that all development 

proposals will be considered against the NPPF, including application of the 

sequential and, if necessary, the exception test.  

The  application  has  been  submitted  with  a  Flood  Risk  Assessment  and 

Drainage Strategy by KRS Enviro dated June 2023.   

Page 44



 

 

 

Part of the access route to the site, where the drainage ditch lies is within Flood 

Zones 2 and 3 as defined by the Environment Agency’s Flood Risk Maps for 

planning.   

The battery containers and associated ancillary development is outside of the 

flood zone areas. In terms of the sequential approach to development this has 

been applied by locating the more vulnerable elements of the development in 

the lowest risk areas. There will also be a ‘no build zone’ which will provide a 

9m ditch maintenance zone. It, therefore, should be noted that the risk of fluvial 

flooding to the Site is shown to not occur on the operational area of the Site 

and there will be no bund or fence in the higher risk flood zones. The operational 

area of the site will be located within Flood Zone 1 with only the access track 

on the north bank of the drainage ditch being located within Flood Zones 2 and 

3. The majority of the site and the site access is shown to be located within 

Flood Zone 1. This approach is considered to be appropriate.   

The proposed surface water drainage scheme (based on SUDS principles)   

will comprise of the following;   

 Permeable surfaces to be used consisting of crushed stone and   

grassed areas;   

 A surface water attenuation storage pond in the form of a detention   

basing;   

 Runoff rates will restricted to 5.00 l/s before discharge off to the   

application site into the adjacent Beck.   

The adoption of a SuDS Strategy for the site represents an enhancement from  

the current  conditions as the current  surface water  runoff  from the Site  is 

uncontrolled.  The  submitted  FRA/drainage  strategy  demonstrates  that  a 

scheme can be developed that does not increase the risk of flooding to any 

nearby properties and development further downstream. Lincolnshire County 

Council as the Lead Local Flood authority for major applications have reviewed 

the drainage scheme and have confirmed that the scheme is sustainable and 

suitable for the proposals.   

Flood Resilient layout and design- Even though the battery containers are to 

be located outside of the flood zones they will be raised on concrete pads 

c.300mm above ground level. All buildings / structures (are of hard-wearing 

materials and will be sealed against water ingress. The floor of the buildings 

will  be  constructed  from  concrete  hardstanding  which  will  be  resilient  to 

floodwater.  

Concerns have been raised in relation to the absence of foul water disposal 

facilities within the welfare cabins. It has been confirmed with the agent for the 

application that there will be no foul drainage connection required, given the 

short periods of time that maintenance workers would be at the site.   

Page 45



 

 

 

Overall, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of flood risk and 

drainage, subject to conditions to secure a detailed drainage design, and would 

accord to the aims of Policy S21 and the provisions of the NPPF.   

Visual Amenity  

Policy S53 of the CLLP requires that ‘all development proposals must take into 

consideration the character and local distinctiveness of the area (and enhance 

or reinforce it, as appropriate) and create a sense of place which demonstrates a  

sound  understanding  on  their  context.  As  such,  and  where  applicable, 

proposals will be required to demonstrate, to a degree proportionate to the 

proposal, that they are well designed in relation to siting, height, scale, massing, 

and form.  Important  views into,  out  of  and  through a  site  should  also  be 

safeguarded.’  

Criteria d, Part E of Policy S5 states; d) The development is of a size and scale 

commensurate  with  the  proposed  use  and  with  the  rural  character  of  the 

location.   

Policy S16 of the CLLP states that; wider energy infrastructure should take all 

reasonable opportunities to mitigate any harm arising from such proposals and 

take care to select not only appropriate locations for such facilities, but also 

design solutions which minimises harm arising.  

Policy 2- Design of New Development of the Draft Reepham NP gives a set of 

criteria that new development should adhere to.  The policy details that the NP 

area is characterised into different areas, each of which have their own Design 

Codes. The application site falls within the 'Open Countryside' character area. 

The Design Code recognises that within these areas the following is applicable: 

Development proposals for this character area would be of either an agricultural 

or energy production nature.   

Policy 11- Important Views and Vistas of the Draft Reepham NP details views 

in, out of and around Reepham. There are no notable views that overlook this 

application site, view 4.4 is the closest to the site, this is detailed as 'views over 

the Beck'.     

In terms of built form, the structures are relatively low lying in their scale. The 

battery containers themselves are set out in two adjacent rows and measure c. 

18.3m in length, 2.4m in width with an overall height of c.3m. The tallest element 

at the site will be the substation at c. 5.8m in overall height.  All of the structures 

on site will be finished in a dark green colour and will be constructed from either 

galvanised steel or corrugated corten steel. The applicant has advised that 

battery technology is constantly evolving and changing, further incorporating 

safety features. Therefore, there may be some slight design changes to the 

battery containers prior to their installation, this will  not change the energy 

capacity of the site which will not exceed 53MVA. It is considered necessary to 

condition the final designs to be agreed in writing prior to installation on site.   

Page 46



 

 

 

There are no visual  concerns with the cabling route to the connection point 

given that it will be located underground.   

The  site  is  located  between  two  industrial  land  uses  (Welton  Gathering 

Centre/Igas site and the Sewerage Treatment Works), the site is not within any 

local or national designations.  

The application has been submitted with a full and comprehensive Landscape 

Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) to Level 3- Guidelines for Landscape and 

Visual Assessment. Within the LVIA a range of viewpoints informed by a Zone 

of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) have been included. The ZTV illustrates that the 

limited visibility on the landscape of  the surrounding arable fields between 

Sudbrooke to the immediate north (c. 600m) and Reepham to the southwest (> 

600m+). The key visual receptors within the area would mainly consist of the 

users  of  the  nearby  public  rights  of  way  and  road  network.  Residential 

properties are also considered to have a high sensitivity to visual change, there 

are six properties within 700m of the site.   

The  LVIA  details  that  the  visual  assessment  considered  the  residential 

receptors within 750m of the site, they were assessed to not have anything 

more than glimpsed and partial views which would not be directly overlooking 

the site and therefore not give rise to substantial visual effects.   

Direct  views in towards the site are limited to the location of  Viewpoint  4, 

representative of the nearest point from Barfields Lane a public bridleway within 

the local PRoW network. This existing route also forms part of the access route 

from which it is proposed to provide an additional access track for the site 

compound  adjacent  to  the  existing  Sewage  Works.  8.1.8  Of  the  other 

viewpoints assessed none were found to experience anything above a minor 

level of visual effect. In general when set beyond the site’s immediate setting 

(>500m+) these effects then reduce to negligible.  

The  main  visual  impacts  arising  from  the  proposal  would  be  during  the 

construction  period  which  would  take  approximately  6  months,  the  LVIA 

considers  these  impacts  to  be  of  a  medium magnitude  of  change.  Upon 

completion of the BESS the impacts are considered to be of a low magnitude. 

In considering the site and its immediate setting this would result in minor level 

of impacts upon the landscape.   

With reference to the evaluation of the landscape effects a Low landscape 

sensitivity and a Medium magnitude of change during the construction phase, 

reducing to Low magnitude at Completion. When considering the site and its 

immediate setting this would result in a Minor level of landscape effect, which 

would remain the case throughout the project’s lifecycle (from completion to 

Year 10 and up to decommissioning), which are overall ‘Not Substantial’ effects.  

The two existing sites that lie adjacent to the application site already provide 

some  additional  screening  from  the  surrounding  open  countryside.  The 

proposed physical development is low lying and within the landscape and would 

not be unduly prominent. The conclusions within the LVIA are agreed with and  

Page 47



 

 

 

overall, it is not considered that there would be any substantial visual effects on 

the character of the area that would warrant refusal of the application on visual 

impact grounds.   

Proposed Landscaping  

In  terms of  proposed  landscaping  a  1.5m high  landscape  bund  (at  a  1:3 

gradient) will be constructed from the site’s stripped back soils following the 

creation of  development platform to the south,  east and west sides of  the 

compound. The bunding will provide additional screening from the north, west 

and southern edges of the proposal site, will help to retain the aesthetic aspect 

of the baseline landscape. Only direct views from the north within the site’s 

immediate setting on the track will get views of the development as a whole. 

The outer side of the bund will be planted with a tall planting mix comprising of 

native shrubs and small tree species.   

It is considered that the landscape proposals will provide further screening of 

the development from views within the surrounding countryside. The bund will 

also provide compensation for the intended loss of the vegetation identified in 

the arboriculture report.  The proposed planting would also provide a more 

varied species mix and would also help to enhance biodiversity at the site. A 

suitable landscaping condition will ensure that the planting is done in a timely 

manner and is replaced if any planting were to die.   

Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not cause visual harm to the 

surrounding countryside and would accord to the aims of policies S5, S16 and 

S53 of the CLLP and the Draft Reepham NP policies.   

Trees  

The application has been submitted with an Arboricultural Assessment by fpcr 

dated June 2023.   

There  are  no  protected  trees  (TPO  or  conservation  area)  within  the  site 

boundaries.  Non-protected  trees  within  or  adjacent  to  the  site  have  been 

identified within the submitted arboricultural report as 6 individual trees, one 

group, and three hedgerows  

Most of the 6 individual trees are assessed as Category C trees. These are 

trees of low quality that should not pose a constraint to development proposals. 

Just two of the trees have been assessed as Category B, which are trees of 

moderate quality that should be retained if possible. These are T1 field maple 

and T5 ash which are part of a line of trees adjacent the cable route at the 

junction of Barfields Lane and the track to the sewage works and site. T1 maple 

is the tree closest to the proposed cable route and is proposed to be removed.  

The application has been reviewed by the Councils Tree and Landscape  

Officer who has no objections to the proposals in terms of impacts to trees   

and hedges.   

Highway Safety/Access   

Page 48



 

 

 

Policy S47 of the CLLP states that; Development proposals which contribute  

towards an efficient and safe transport network that offers a range of transport 

choices for the movement of people and goods will be supported.  

Criteria b, Part E of Policy S5 states: b) The location of the enterprise is  

suitable in terms of accessibility;  

The site is currently accessed from Barfields Lane to the north west by a private 

track that serves the sewerage treatment plant, through a field and an existing 

bridge over the Beck. The application proposes a new crushed stone access 

track, directly adjacent (east) to the one that serves the sewerage works. There 

will be access improvements where the track meets with Barfields Lane and a 

temporary bridge will be constructed over the drainage ditch crossing to allow 

for HGV’s to access the site during the construction period, this will be removed 

once construction is complete.    

During the construction period there will  of  course be numerous additional 

comings and goings to and from the site. The construction period is estimated 

to last approximately 6 months, the below table has been submitted to show 

the estimated number of vehicle movements per week.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The application has been submitted with a transport assessment which gives 

baseline survey results on traffic movements at two points close to where the  

Page 49



 

 

 

proposed site access will be located. Baseline survey results show that there 

are relatively low levels of vehicle movements along Barfields Lane.    

It is recognised that the construction phase of the development will increase 

the total number of vehicles on the local highway network and in particular the 

number of HGVs, however, the increase in relative number terms is minimal 

and when viewed against the light background traffic on Barfields Lane, which 

recorded an average of 132 two-way movements, it is not considered that the 

modest increase during the construction period will have a detrimental impact 

upon the operation of the highway network in the vicinity of the site. All staff 

(approx. 20 during construction) parking during construction works will be within 

the  site  compound with  no  need  to  park  on  the  public  highway.  Once  in 

operation the BESS is unmanned (operated remotely) and traffic movements 

to and from the site will be minimal. Visits to site will be for maintenance and 

inspections only.   

With regard to the cabling route, much of this would be buried underneath 

highway verges/land mainly along the A158 to the connection point at the Pylon 

in North Greetwell.  Again, this element has been reviewed by the Highways 

Authority and has been found to be acceptable in principle, separate consent 

will need to be sought for works on the highway and along the highway verge.  

The application has also included a legal agreement to ensure that a secondary 

emergency access can be utilised in the event of an emergency.   

Overall,  the proposal would not be expected to cause detrimental highway 

safety issues, subject to conditions and further approvals outside the control of 

this application and would accord to Policy S47 of the CLLP as well as the 

provisions of the NPPF.     

Archaeology  

In relation to archaeology Policy S57 of the CLLP states that: Development 

affecting archaeological remains, whether known or potential, designated or 

undesignated, should take every practical and reasonable step to protect and, 

where  possible,  enhance  their  significance.  Planning  applications  for  such 

development  should  be accompanied by an appropriate  and proportionate 

assessment to understand the potential for and significance of remains, and 

the impact of development upon them.  

Point  3 of  Policy 1 of  the Draft  Reepham Neighbourhood Plan states that 

development  proposals  must  respect  archaeological,  historical  and  natural 

assets within the Parish.  

The initial application submission was submitted with an Archaeological desk 

based assessment by   

Following initial comments from the Historic Environment Officer at Lincolnshire 

County Council a series of predetermination trial trenches have been carried 

out. During the trial trenching exercise some Romano-British archaeological 

features were recorded to the south of the site indicating that this area was  

Page 50



 

 

 

probably on the edge of settlement activity which likely extends further south 

up the hill.  

Following on from the results of the trial trench exercise/final report (April 2024) 

and  given  that  some  archaeological  features  were  found,  the  Historic 

Environment Officer has recommended that there is a SMS (strip map and 

sample) carried out in the main southern section of the site. This is to record 

any  further  archaeology  prior  to  it  being  impacted  by  the  proposed 

development. This will be secured by pre commencement condition which will 

request that a WSI and specification is agreed in writing to ensure any further 

archaeological features found during construction are adequately recorded.    

The  applicant  has  confirmed  their  agreement  to  this  pre  commencement 

condition. The Historic Environment Officer also requested that a full WSI is 

submitted for the cabling route from the main part of the site to the pylon. The 

cable route, where possible will be laid within the highway verge, and in most 

instances will be laid where the re are existing utility services. Much of the siting 

of the cables along the highway will be down to agreement from Lincolnshire 

County Council. It is not considered reasonable to request that the applicant 

submits a WSI or archaeological monitoring for this part of the site. Overall, 

subject to conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of 

archaeology and would accord to Policy S57 and the provisions of the NPPF.   

Residential Amenity  

Policy S53 of the CLLP requires that development proposals do not have an 

unacceptable impact on residential amenity. This includes considerations such 

as compatibility with neighbouring land uses, noise, vibration, odour, and the 

creation of safe environments amongst other things.  

Criteria c, Part E of Policy S5 states c) The location of the enterprise would   

not result in conflict with neighbouring uses; and  

Firstly, in relation to fire safety risks, this has been addressed in the relevant  

section of this report. In terms of nearby residential settlements these are as  

follows:  

 Reepham- c. 640 to the south west of the application site.  

 Sudbrooke- c.600m to the north the application site.  

 Langworth- c. 1.8km to the north east of the application site.  

 Nettleham- c.2.4km to the north west of the application site.  

The nearest residential receptor to the application site are located on Barfields  

Lane, c. 450m to the north east of the application site.  Given the separation 

distances it is not considered that the proposal would cause any unacceptable 

amenity concerns in relation to dominating impacts.   

Noise  

Page 51



 

 

 

The application has been submitted with a noise assessment by Noise Assess- 

Acoustics, Noise and Vibration Consultants dated July 2023. There were three 

residential receptors used in the assessment as shown on the plan below 

(taken from the submitted report):   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The  normal  criteria  for  indoor  sound  levels  in  residential  developments 

(BS8233) is 35dB during the day and 30dB at night, with short duration levels 

not exceeding 45dB at night in bedrooms. The report includes survey results 

from existing (baseline) noise levels, the readings were taken during the day 

and night. The noise-generating items on the BESS containers will  be the 

HVAC units used for cooling. There will be two HVAC units on each end of each 

BESS container making 4 per container. There will therefore be 64 BESS HVAC 

units. Each pair of BESS containers will be served by an inverter unit and a 

transformer. The predicted noise levels have been assessed in accordance with 

BS4142, the assessment concludes that there will be a low noise impact arising 

from the BESS and thus no additional noise mitigation measures are proposed.  
 

The modelling dB level results are as follows; 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The BS4142 assessment dB levels are as follows;  
 
 
 

Page 52



 
 

 
The development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of noise 

impacts on nearby sensitive receptors.   

The submitted Design and Access statement details that hours of construction 

will be between 0800 to 1800 hours Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1600 hours 

on Sundays. Deliveries will  also be done during these times. The times of 

construction  are  considered  to  be  acceptable  given  the  siting  away  from 

residential properties.   

Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not cause harm to residential 

amenity and would accord to the aims of the policies within the Development 

Plan.    

Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain  

Page 53



 

 

 

The application has been submitted with a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by 

fpcr dated July 2023. The appraisal details the following in relation to species  

at or nearby the site.   

Amphibians- No suitable aquatic breeding habitat was present within the site or 

within 250m of the site boundary. Suitable terrestrial habitat is limited to the 

small area of other neutral grassland to the south of the wet ditch. This would 

offer some opportunities for foraging and shelter but is unlikely to be used due 

to its isolation away from suitable aquatic habitat.  

Birds-  The  habitats  at  the  site  likely  provides  some  foraging  and  nesting 

opportunities for species associated with farmland habitats including ground 

nesting species. The habitats on the site are common and widespread in the 

surrounding  landscape  and  the  site  is  unlikely  to  support  an  ecologically 

important population of a single species or an important assemblage of bird 

species. The proposed works at the site, which will involve vegetation clearance 

and some tree loss which could impact individual nesting birds. To reduce the 

likelihood  of  causing  damage  or  destruction  of  active  nests,  vegetation 

clearance should be avoided between March and August.  

Reptiles- Grass snake records were returned within the data search results with 

the nearest record 350m north-west of the site on the opposite side of Wragby 

Road. Habitat suitability for this, and other reptile species, is limited to the small 

area of neutral grassland to the south of the wet ditch. Habitat clearance that 

includes  removal  of  potential  hibernation  features,  such  as  earth  mounds, 

should avoid the hibernation period where individual animals would at their 

most  vulnerable  (October-March).  Clearance  should  be  preceded  by  a 

walkover by a suitably qualified ecologist and followed by multiple progressively 

shorter cuts with a walkover between each cut to search for individual animals.  

Bats- Several bat records were returned within the search within 1km of the 

Site. Two trees with low suitability to support roosting bats were present in the 

northern hedgerow and are proposed for removal. The site is therefore unlikely 

to support an ecologically important population or assemblage of bat species. 

The ditches that are adjacent to the site form part of a larger network of linear 

water features extending 4.5km west to the edge of Lincoln and 1.8km east 

where it branches and forms connections into the wider landscape. This ditch 

is  likely  to  be  used  by  commuting  and  foraging  bats.  This  foraging  and 

commuting could be impacted by artificial lighting. Lighting will only be present 

during the construction phase. Any artificial lighting should avoid light spill into 

any of the adjacent habitats including the ditches and also any of the retained 

and newly created habitats.  

Water Vole-  Water vole records were returned in the data search with the 

nearest record being 770m north of the site. No suitable habitat we present 

within the site boundary, however, towards the south of the site, the wet ditch, 

provides suitable habitat for water vole to burrow, forage and shelter and is 

connected to a wider ditch network. For the purpose of this assessment, water 

vole is considered to be potentially present in this ditch and mitigation in the  

Page 54



 

 

 

form of avoidance has been provided. The site proposals have been designed 

to avoid impacts on this species.  

Mammals- Other- Records for both hedgehog and brown hare were returned  

in the data search. These species both can be present in arable landscapes  

and therefore could be present onsite. The site is unlikely to support important 

populations of either species.   

The report concludes various mitigation measures to ensure that the ecological 

features of the site and protected species are protected during construction and 

operation (Pages 16- 17 of the report). The report does not recommend that 

any further survey work needs to be carried out. A condition will ensure that the 

works are carried out in accordance with the mitigation measures.   

Biodiversity Net Gain- The application was submitted prior (October 2023) to 

the implementation of the legislative requirement to provide the 10% BNG and 

therefore falls to be considered against Policies S60 and S61 of the Central 

Lincolnshire Local Plan.    

Policies S60 and S61 of the CLLP state that;  
 

All development should:  
a) protect, manage, enhance and extend the ecological network of habitats, 
species and sites of international, national and local importance (statutory and 

non-statutory), including sites that meet the criteria for selection as a Local Site; 
b) minimise impacts on biodiversity and features of geodiversity value;  
c) deliver measurable and proportionate net gains in biodiversity in accordance 

with Policy S61; and  

d) protect and enhance the aquatic environment within or adjoining the site, 
including water quality and habitat.  

 

Following application of the mitigation hierarchy, all  development proposals 

should  ensure  opportunities  are  taken  to  retain,  protect  and  enhance 

biodiversity and geodiversity features proportionate to their scale, through site 

layout,  design  of  new  buildings  and  proposals  for  existing  buildings  with 

consideration to the construction phase and ongoing site management.  
All qualifying development proposals must deliver at least a 10% measurable 

biodiversity  net  gain  attributable  to  the  development.  The  net  gain  for 
biodiversity should be calculated using Natural England’s Biodiversity Metric.  

The application has been submitted with a completed Metric and Ecological 

Appraisal. The Site has a current biodiversity value of 6.27 habitat units and 

0.10 hedgerow units. Post development the biodiversity value of the site will be 

7.88 (25.79% gain) habitat units and 0 (100% loss) hedgerow units. A net gain 

of above 10% can be achieved for habitats onsite with the current site design. 

Hedgerow creation has been proposed by planting 33m of hedgerow adjacent 

to the site connected to an existing hedgerow. This will result in an increase of 

0.11 hedgerow units and an overall hedgerow gain of 10.46%. Including both 

onsite and offsite areas, the proposed development will result in a 25.79% gain 

in habitat units and a 10.46% gain in hedgerow units. The loss of the modified  

Page 55



 

 

 

grassland and cereal crops is offset by the creation of other neutral grassland 

and mixed scrub.   

An appropriately worded condition will  require the submission of a 30-year 

Habitat Management Plan to be approved in writing prior to the commencement 

of development. Overall, the proposal would accord to the aims of Policies S60 

and S61 of the CLLP.   

Minerals and Waste  

The site lies to the south east of an existing sewage treatment works. Policy 

W8: Safeguarding of Waste Management Sites of the Lincolnshire Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan relates to the safeguarding of existing waste management 

facilities  from  development  which  may  prevent  or  prejudice  the  effective 

operation of such facilities.    

As  detailed  in  the  relevant  section  of  this  report  it  is  considered  that  the 

submitted outline Battery Safety Management Plan adequately addresses how 

the site will operate safely and not prejudice the running of the neighbouring 

facilities  in  principle  subject  to  a  final  version  being  submitted  prior  to 

commencement of development.   

Other Matters  

Length of Consent- There is no government-imposed limit on the lifetime of 

BESS set out in any national guidance. The applicant has advised that they are 

not  seeking  a  temporary  consent,  it  will  be  in  permanent  operation.  It  is 

considered necessary to condition a decommissioning and restoration plan to 

be submitted when the site ceases storing energy for a period of 6 months or 

more.   

Battery Lifetime- Given the permanent consent sought, it is recognised that 

the batteries themselves will need to be replaced during the lifetime of the 

proposal. Most up to date technology allows batteries for run for approximately 

between 13-15 years, depending on how many cycles per day are carried out. 

Batteries would be recycled in accordance with European Directives and in 

most cases between 50-60% of the materials can be recycled and re used. 

The  Environment  Agency's  informatives  also  provide  guidance  on  battery 

disposal.    

Conclusion and reason for decision: The application has been considered 

against  policies Policy S1: The Spatial  Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy, 

Policy  S5:  Development  in  the  Countryside,  Policy  S16:  Wider  Energy 

Infrastructure,  Policy  S21:  Flood  Risk  and  Water  Resources,  Policy  S47: 

Accessibility  and  Transport,  Policy  S53:  Design  and  Amenity,  Policy  S54: 

Health  and  Wellbeing,  Policy  S57:  The  Historic  Environment,  Policy  S60: 

Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity, Policy S61: Biodiversity Opportunity 

and  Delivering  Measurable  Net  Gains,  Policy  S66:  Trees,  Woodland  and 

Hedgerows,  Policy  S67:  Best  and  Most  Versatile  Agricultural  Land  of  the 

Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 2023, policies M8 and M11 of the Lincolnshire  

Page 56



 

 

 

Minerals and Waste Core Strategy in the first instance as well as the guidance 

within the NPPG and provisions of the NPPF. Increasing weight has also been 

given  to  the  policies  within  the  Draft  Reepham  Neighbourhood  Plan. 

Consideration has also been given to the National Fire Chiefs Council guidance 

as is encouraged by NPPG: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy.    

In light of this assessment the proposal is considered to be supported by local 

and national planning policy and would help contribute toward a low carbon 

future. The impacts on the landscape and residential amenity have been found 

to be acceptable. There would be no adverse impact on highway safety matters 

are considered to be acceptable. Matters of fire risk and safety have been 

adequately  addressed  within  the  application  submission.  Archaeology  and 

drainage matters are also considered to be acceptable subject to conditions. 

The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to conditions 

and a legal agreement to secure the use of a secondary access in the event of 

emergencies.   

Decision Level: Committee  

RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:  

Conditions stating the time by which the development must be  
commenced:  

 

1.The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of  
three years from the date of this permission.  

Reason: To conform with Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).  

Conditions  which  apply  or  require  matters  to  be  agreed  before  the 

development commenced:  

2.No development shall take place until a Battery Safety Management Plan 

(BSMP) and a Fire Strategy Management Plan (FSMP), based on the principles 

within the Outline Plan that has been submitted with the application have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local  Planning Authority.  The 

BSMP must prescribe measures to facilitate safety during the construction, 

operation and decommissioning of the battery storage system. The BSMP and 

FSMP shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.    

Reason:  In  the interests  of  fire and public safety and the impacts  on the 

environment.   

3.No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan and 

Method Statement has first been approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  The Plan and Statement shall  indicate measures to mitigate the 

adverse impacts of vehicle activity and the means to manage the drainage of 

the site during the construction stage of the permitted development. It shall 

include;   

Page 57



 

 

 

 

 the phasing of the development to include access construction;  

 the on-site parking of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  

 the on-site loading and unloading of all plant and materials;  

 the on-site storage of all plant and materials used in constructing the  
development;   

 wheel washing facilities;  

 the routes of construction traffic to and from the site including any off-  

site routes for the disposal of excavated material and;   

 strategy stating how surface water run off on and from the development  
will be managed during construction and protection measures for any 

sustainable drainage features. This should include drawing(s) showing 

how the drainage systems (temporary or  permanent)  connect  to  an 

outfall (temporary or permanent) during construction.   

 Details of the temporary bridge to be installed during the construction  

period and at what point it will be removed.  

 Details of temporary lighting to be used.  

The  development  shall  only  proceed  in  accordance  with  the  approved 

statement.  

Reason: In the interests of the safety and free passage of those using the 

adjacent  public  highway and  to  ensure  that  the  permitted  development  is 

adequately drained without creating or increasing flood risk to land or property 

adjacent to, or Downstream of, the permitted development during construction.  

4.No development shall take place until a written scheme of archaeological 

investigation for the SMS (strip map and sample) for the southern part of the 

application site has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Authority.  This  scheme  should  include  the  following  and  should  be  in 

accordance with the archaeological brief supplied by the Lincolnshire County 

Council Historic Environment advisor on behalf of the Local Planning Authority:  

1.  An  assessment  of  significance  and  proposed  mitigation  strategy  (i.e. 

preservation by record, preservation in situ or a mix of these elements).  

2. A methodology and timetable of site investigation and recording  

3. Provision for site analysis  

4. Provision for publication and dissemination of analysis and records provision 

for archive deposition  

5. Nomination of a competent person/organisation to undertake the work  
 

6.  The  scheme  to  be  in  accordance  with  the  Lincolnshire  Archaeological 

Handbook.  

Reason:  to  record  and  advance  understanding  of  the  significance  of  any 

heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their 

importance  and  the  impact  and  to  make  this  evidence  (and  any  archive 

generated) publicly accessible.   

Page 58

http://construction.4.no/
http://construction.4.no/


 

 

 

 

5.Prior to the commencement of the development, a 30-year Biodiversity Net 
Gain Management and Monitoring Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include the following details:  
 

 Details of the size, species, planting arrangement and position of 
all  trees,  hedgerows  and  other  vegetation  to  be  planted  in 

accordance with the details in the submitted Ecological Appraisal 
by fpcr dated July 2023.  

 

 Details of boundary treatments (including boundaries within the 

site) and hardstanding. The development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved scheme.  
 

Reason: To ensure that the biodiversity net gain measures are maintained for 
a 30-year period and a landscaping scheme is implemented to enhance the 

development in accordance with the NPPF and Policies S53, S60 and S61 of 
the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan.  

 

6.No development shall take place until a detailed scheme for the disposal of 
surface waters have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall only be carried out in accordance 

with the approved details.  
 

Reason: To ensure adequate drainage facilities are provided to serve the 

development in accordance with Policy S21 of the Central Lincolnshire Local 
Plan.  

 

Conditions which apply or are to be observed during the course of the 

development:  

7.The archaeological site work referred to in condition 4 shall be undertaken 

only in full accordance with the approved written scheme. The applicant will 

notify the planning authority of the intention to commence at least fourteen days 

before the start of archaeological work in order to facilitate adequate monitoring 

arrangements. No variation shall take place without prior consent of the local 

planning authority.  

Reason:  to  record  and  advance  understanding  of  the  significance  of  any 

heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their 

importance  and  the  impact  and  to  make  this  evidence  (and  any  archive 

generated) publicly accessible.   

8. With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of  
this consent, the development hereby approved shall be carried out in  
accordance with the following drawings:   

 

- Proposed Site Layout  WB1001/14/03 1  

- Fire Water Tank Details WB1001 14 18 R0  

- Welfare Cabins WB1001/14/09 0  

Page 59

http://plan.6.no/
http://plan.6.no/


 

 

 

 

- Welfare Cabin Details WB1001/14/09 1  

- Switchgear cabin details WB1001/14/10 0  

- Switchgear cabin details WB1001/14/10 1  

- Landscaping bund and planting plan WB1001/09/05 0  

- Transformer and inverter details WB1001/14/08 0  

- DNO Substation Details WB1001/14/12 0  

- DNO Substation Details WB1001/14/12 1  

- Paladin Mesh Fencing Details WB1001/14/14 0  

- CCTV Details WB1001/14/06 0  

- Battery Container Details WB1001/14/07 0  

- Proposed Cable Route WB1001/14/15 0  

- Sectional View WB1001/14/05 0  

- 132kV Substation Details WB 1001/14/13 0  

- Planning application boundary sheet 1 of 2 WB1001/14/2A 0  

- Planning application boundary sheet 1 of 2 WB1001/14/2B 0  

- Site Location Plan WB1001/14/01 0  

- Spares and Storage Container Details WB1001/14/11 0  

- Spares and Storage Container Details WB1001/14/11 1  

- Proposed Pond Details WB1001/14/16 0  

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the details and materials  
shown on the approved plans and any other document forming part of the  
application.   

Reason: To ensure the development proceeds in accordance with the  
approved plans.   

9. Notwithstanding the battery container plans referred to in condition 8 of this 

consent, if an alternative battery design is to be installed on site, prior to their 

installation,  full  details,  including  scaled  plans  shall  be  submitted  to  and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only 

proceed in accordance with the approved plans.   

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity to accord with Policy S53 of the  
Central Lincolnshire Local Plan.   

 

10.The development hereby permitted shall proceed in strict accordance with 

the Mitigation measures set out within Section 5 (Pages 16-17) of the Ecological 
Appraisal by fpcr dated July 2023.   

Page 60



 

 

 

Reason: To protect and enhance the biodiversity value of the site to accord 

with the National Planning Policy Framework and policy S66 of the Central 

Lincolnshire Local Plan.  

11. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the tree protection measures as detailed within the Arboricultural Report by fpcr 

dated June 2023. The protection measures shall remain in place during the 

construction period.   

Reason: In the interests of protecting the trees to be retained on the site in 

accordance with policy S66 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 2023.   

12.The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood 

risk assessment ref: ‘KRS.0297.048.R.001.C’, dated June 2023, prepared by 

‘KRS  Envrio’  and  the  mitigation  measures  details  in  section  5.0  ‘Risk 

Management’.   

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 

subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. 

The measures detailed shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout 

the lifetime of the development.  

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development in  

accordance with Policy S21 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 2023.  

Conditions which apply or relate to matters which are to be observed  
following completion of the development:  

13.A copy of the final report referred to in condition 4 will be submitted within 

three months of  the work  to  the Local  Planning Authority for  approval  (or 

according to an agreed programme). The material and paper archive required 

as part  of  the  written  scheme of  investigation  shall  be  deposited  with  an 

appropriate archive in accordance with guidelines published in The Lincolnshire 

Archaeological Handbook.  

Reason:  to  record  and  advance  understanding  of  the  significance  of  any 

heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their 
importance  and  the  impact  and  to  make  this  evidence  (and  any  archive 

generated) publicly accessible.   
 

14.All  planting,  seeding  or  turfing  comprised  in  the  approved  details  of 
landscaping as required by condition 5 shall be carried out in the first planting 

and  seeding  season  following  the  occupation  of  the  building(s)  or  the 

completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants 

which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in 

the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the 

Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.  
 

Reason: To ensure that an approved landscaping scheme is implemented in a 

speedy and diligent  way and that  initial  plant  losses are overcome, in the  

Page 61



 

 

 

 

interests  of  the  visual  amenities  of  the  locality  and  occupiers  of  adjacent 
buildings and in accordance with Policies S53, S60 and S61 of the Central 
Lincolnshire Local Plan.  

15.The constructed roads hereby approved shall be no higher than 200mm 

above existing ground levels.  

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and to 

ensure that there are no detrimental impacts to flood storage or flood flow 

routes in accordance with Policy S21 of the Central Lincolnshire Local Plan 

2023.   

16.Within  12  months  of  the  cessation  of  electricity  storage  in  the  site,  a 

decommissioning and restoration scheme shall be submitted to and approved 

by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The decommissioning scheme shall 

include a programme and a scheme of works for the removal and shall be 

implemented in accordance with the approved details.   

The operator shall  notify the Local  Planning Authority in writing within five 

working  days  following  the  cessation  of  electricity  storage.  All  buildings, 

structures and associated infrastructure shall be removed within 12 months of 

the  approval  of  the  decommissioning  scheme,  and  the  land  restored,  in 

accordance with the approved details.  

Reason:  In the interests of  highway safety, visual  and residential amenity, 

landscape character and environmental protection.  

Notes to the Applicant  

Lincolnshire Fire Service  

The applicant is advised to make contact with Lincolnshire Fire Service once 

the site is complete to ensure they can assess and factor in their emergency 

response procedures.   

Environment Agency  

Proposed temporary bridge- Please note the proposed temporary bridge and 

works close to the watercourse may need consent from the Internal Drainage 

Board (IDB), in this case, it is Witham Third IDB.  

Energy storage- Energy storage will play a significant role in the future of the 

UK  energy  sector.  Effective  storage  solutions  will   benefit   renewables 

generation, helping to ensure a more stable supply and give operators access 

to the Grid ancillary services market. The National Grid's Enhanced Frequency 

Response programme will provide a welcome catalyst for a significant level of 

battery storage deployment in the UK. Currently, DEFRA does not consider the 

need to  regulate  the operation  of  battery  energy storage  systems (BESS) 

facilities under the Environmental Permitting Regulations regime.  

Although these are a source of energy to the National Grid they do not result in 

the direct  impact to the environment during normal operations.  We do not  

Page 62



 

 

 

generally object to battery storage proposals, however, the potential to pollute 

in abnormal and emergency situations should not be overlooked. Applicants 

should consider the impact to groundwater from the escape of firewater/foam 

and any metal leachate that it may contain. Where possible the applicant should 

ensure that  there are multiple  ‘layers of  protection’  to  prevent  the source- 

pathway-receptor  pollution  route  occurring.  In  particular,  proposals  should 

avoid being situated near to rivers and sensitive drinking water sources.  

However, an important factor that can be overlooked by parties involved in new 

battery storage projects or investing in existing projects is that battery storage 

falls within the scope of the UK's producer responsibility regime for batteries 

and other waste legislation. This creates additional lifecycle liabilities which 

must be understood and factored into project costs, but on the positive side, 

the  regime  also  creates  opportunities  for  battery  recyclers  and  related 

businesses.  Operators’  of  battery storage facilities should be aware of  the 

Producer Responsibility Regulations. Under the Regulations, industrial battery 

producers are obliged to:  

 take back waste industrial batteries from end users or waste disposal 

authorities free of charge and provide certain information for end users;  

 ensure  all  batteries  taken  back  are  delivered  and  accepted  by  an  

approved treatment and recycling operator;   

 keep a record of the amount of tonnes of batteries placed on the market  

and taken back;   

 register as a producer with the Secretary of State;  

 report to the Secretary of State on the weight of batteries placed on the 

market  and  collected  in  each  compliance  period  (each  12  months 

starting from 1January).  

Putting  aside  the  take  back  obligations  under  the  producer  responsibility 

regime, batteries have the potential to cause harm to the environment if the 

chemical contents escape from the casing. When a battery within a battery 

storage unit ceases to operate, it will need to be removed from site and dealt 

with in compliance with waste legislation. The party discarding the battery will 

have a waste duty of care under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to 

ensure  that  this  takes  place.  The  Waste  Batteries  and  Accumulators 

Regulations 2009 also introduced a prohibition on the disposal of batteries to 

landfill and incineration. Batteries must be recycled or recovered by approved 

battery  treatment  operators  or  exported  for  treatment  by approved  battery 

exporters only. Many types of batteries are classed as hazardous waste which 

creates additional requirements for storage and transport.  

Any run-off from the use of de-icer would not be classed as surface water and 

would need to be appropriately bunded to ensure that it does not enter ground 

water or surface water bodies.  

Highways  

Page 63



 

 

 

In accordance with Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980, please be considerate 

of causing damage to the existing highway during construction and implement 

mitigation measures as necessary. Should extraordinary expenses be incurred 

by the Highway Authority in maintaining the highway by reason of damage 

caused by construction traffic, the Highway Authority may seek to recover these 

expenses from the developer.   

Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council  Streetworks and Permitting 

Team on 01522 782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections, 

Section 50 licences and any other works which will be required within the public 

highway in association with the development permitted under this Consent. This 

will enable Lincolnshire County Council to assist in the coordination and timings 

of these works.   

Human Rights Implications:  
 

The above objections, considerations and resulting recommendation have  
had regard to Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European  
Convention for Human Rights Act 1998.  The recommendation will not  
interfere with the applicant’s and/or objector’s right to respect for his private 

and family life, his home and his correspondence.  
 

Legal Implications:  
 

Although all planning decisions have the ability to be legally challenged it is 

considered there are no specific legal implications arising from this report.   
 

 
 

Page 64


	Agenda
	3 To Approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6a 147131 - Land south of Barfield Lane, Reepham
	147131 Committee Officer Report (E1 Final)


